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> CORPORATE PROFILE

Datastream is the global leader of technology-based solutions
for asset lifecycle management. From an award-winning line of
asset management applications to the world's largest industrial
e-procurement network, Datastream's innovative tools and
services offer companies the power to make decisions that
result in superior returns on investment.

Datastream'’s dedication to providing unsurpassed asset
management solutions has led to installations in more than
60% of the Fortune 500. By providing the tools a company
needs to successfully manage their assets, Datastream gives
customers in 148 countries the opportunity to realize significant
financial and operational improvements. In addition, Datastream
helps companies reduce redundant purchases and capital
expenditures, maximize asset use and efficiency, reduce
write-downs, and establish audit compliancy.

Industry analysts and magazines perennially recognize
Datastream as a leader in the asset management field. In 2001,
Datastream was included in the VarBusiness 500, which is
composed of leading solution providers in North America, and
ranked high in the “MS/ Top 100 Software Vendors” survey.

In addition, Managing Automation and AMR Research named

Datastream among the “Enterprise Asset Management Software
Leaders of 2001.”




> SHARE-OLDERS’ LETTER

Most of us remember the first year of this millennium as a
difficult year, with the collapse of the dot-coms, a general
decline in Wall Street's taste for hi-tech, the end of Y2K big
spending, and the beginning of a downward spiral in the
Purchasing Managers Index on manufacturing (National
Association of Purchasing Management PMlI). 2001 followed
without letup, with continued deterioration of the PMI to an all
time ten-year low, the September 11 terrorist attacks, and
President Bush sending troops into Afghanistan.

During these trying times, Datastream focused on its "bread and
butter" business of asset management and had its first profitable
quarter in the last two years. Throughout the year, we saw
continued improvements in DSOs, which helped contribute to
positive cash flow from operations of $14.7 million for the year.
Due to this and other balance sheet improvements, we ended
the year with one of the highest cash balances in our history.

In 2001, we released our fourth generation flagship Internet
product, Datastream 7i, which was touted as a "tour-de-force"
by industry analysts. Success in marketing asset solutions was
clearly demonstrated by the rapid growth of Datastream 7i, and
Datastream celebrated a notable victory in alliances with the
signing of GE Fanuc, an affiliate of GE Industrial Systems, in
early 2002.

A critical part of this success is the direct result of more focus on
recruitment of top management. In 2001, Datastream hired new
vice presidents for North American Sales, Product Management,
Development, and Hosting Services. Ralph Carter, COO, was
hired in August of 2000.

To complement recruitment, we developed a more disciplined
budgeting process that resulted in savings of $10M per quarter,
invested more in company data collection, analysis, and
availability, and moved all of our asset management products to
a single platform. This enabled us to invest aggressively in more
focused R&D activities. Our R&D investments produced 1) the
October release of Datastream 7i, 2) XML-based integration with
other software providers, and 3) the establishment of a new team
for the next Datastream 7i release.

iProcure, with over three years of online experience at the
enterprise level, remains as promising today as it was at the
height of the dot-coms. Rock-hard documentation shows the
ability to reduce parts inventories as much as 80%, savings of
15% plus in line item costs, and, perhaps most importantly, the
ability to instantly know where, when, how much, and by whom,
money is being spent. iProcure transactions have increased from
just under $1 million in 1999, to $13 million in 2000, to over

$38 million in 2001. We expect iProcure's growth trends to
continue in 2002.

Success in 2002 will require that we execute and build upon the
major themes of 2001. We will continue in our commitment to
providing innovative products, recruiting management talent, and
offering our customers the value they need to make their businesses
successful. The management team is dedicated to a successful
and profitable 2002, and we are appreciative of the support of our
employees, customers, and shareholders.

Sincerely,

Larry Blackwell, Ph.D., P.E.
Chairman, President,
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LARRY BLACKWELL

Dr. Blackwell, the founder of the Company, has served as Chairman of
the Board, Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company from
its inception in 1988, Prior to founding the Company, he was President
of the Datastream Systems Division of a subsidiary of Wisconsin Power
& Light. He also co-founded and formerly served as Chairman of the
Board of EDI Technology Companies, an environmental process
engineering consulting company. Dr. Blackwell holds a Bachelor of
Science degree in Engineering from the University of Mississippi, a
Master of Science degree from the Georgia Institute of Technology, and
a Ph.D. in Environmental Systems Engineering from Clemson University.
Dr. Blackwell is a registered Professional Engineer in lilinois,
Pennsylvania, and South Carolina and was named /nc. magazine's 1994
"Entrepreneur of the Year" in the Master Entrepreneur category for the
State of South Carclina. Dr. Blackwell is the father-in-law of W. Scott
Millwood, an executive officer of the Company.

JOHN M. STERLING, JR.

Mr. Sterling has served as a director of the Company since February
1986. He has also served as the Chairman of the Board of Directors of
HomeGold Financial, inc. (formerly Emergent Group, inc.) since
December 1980. He served as President of HomeGold from December
1990 to August 1996 and as its Chief Executive Officer from December
1990 until May 2000. Mr. Sterling also served as President of Palmetto
Seed Capital Corp. from September 1993 to October 1998 and served
as a General Partner of Reedy River Ventures Limited Partnership from
1981 until August 1995. Reedy River provided venture capital financing
to the Company to fund its early development, and Mr. Sterling originally
served on the Board of Directors of the Company pursuant to that
relationship. Mr. Sterling is the father of John M. Sterling, Iil, an
executive officer of the Company. Mr. Sterling holds a Bachelor of
Science degree in Civil Engineering from The Citadel and a Masters in
Business Administration from The Darden Graduate School of Business,

University of Virginia.

RICHARD T. BROCK

Mr. Brock has served as a director of the Company since August 1993.
in 1984, Mr. Brock founded the predecessor of Firstwave Technologies,
Inc., a publicly-held provider of sales and marketing automation
software, for which he has served in various capacities, including Chief
Executive Officer and President, since 1984. He currently serves as
President and Chief Executive Officer and as a director of Firstwave
Technologies. He is also the founding partner of Brock Capital Partners,

a privately-held venture capital fund. He also founded and formerly

> BOARD OF DIRECTORS

served as Chief Executive Officer of Management Control Systems, Inc.
Mr. Brock is a nationally-recognized developer, author, and speaker on
sales, marketing and service automation, and business development
strategy. Mr. Brock received a Bachelor of Science degree in
Accounting from Spring Hill College and a Masters in Business
Administration from Louisiana State University. He is also a certified

public accountant.

if TR
j B R TR
i

IRA D. COHEN

Mr. Cohen has been a director of the Company since February 1995.
Since 1988, Mr. Cohen has served as a Managing Director of Updata
Capital, Inc., an investment banking firm he co-founded that focuses on
mergers and acquisitions in the information technology industry. Mr.
Cohen also served as Updata Capital, Inc.'s Chief Financial Officer from
1986 to 1988. In addition, Mr. Cohen is a Principal with two related
venture funds: Fallen Angel Equity and Updata Venture Fund. Mr.
Cohen is also a director of Alphanet Solutions, Inc. and several privately
held companies. He holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Accounting
from City University of New York, Herbert H. Lehman College, and he is
a registered certified public accountant in New York and New Jersey.

JAMES R. TALTON, JR.

Mr. Talton has served as a director of the Company since March 2001.
He currently serves as Chairman of the Board of Directors for Impact
Design Build, Inc., a real estate development company, and has served
in that capacity since January 2000. From July 19989 to January 2000,
Mr. Talton served as a Vice President for Impact. From July 1986 until
July 1999, Mr. Talton served as the Managing Partner of KPMG LLP's
Raleigh, North Carolina office. KPMG LLP is an international accounting
and consuiting firm. From October 1979 until June 1986, he served as
Managing Partner of KPMG's Greenville, South Carolina office.

Mr. Talton received a Bachelor of Science degree in Accounting from

East Carolina University.




LARRY BLACKWELL

Dr. Blackwell, the founder of the Company, has served as Chairman of
the Board, Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company from
its inception in 1986. Prior to founding the Company, he was President
of the Datastream Systems Division of a subsidiary of Wisconsin Power
& Light. He also co-founded and formerly served as Chairman of the
Board of EDI Technology Companies, an environmental process
engineering consulting company. Dr. Blackwell holds a Bachelor of
Science degree in Engineering from the University of Mississippi, a
Master of Science degree from the Georgia Institute of Technology and
a Ph.D. in Environmental Systems Engineering from Clemson University.
Dr. Blackwell is a registered Professional Engineer in lllinois,
Pennsylvania and South Carolina and was named /nc. magazine's 1994
"Entrepreneur of the Year® in the Master Entrepreneur category for the
State of South Carolina. Dr. Blackwell is the father-in-law of W. Scott
Millwood, an executive officer of the Company.

RALPH T. CARTER

Mr. Carter joined the Company as its Chief Operating Officer in August
2000. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Carter served as Vice
President-North American Sales for Honeywell International from
October 1999 until July 2000. From August 1998 until October 1999, he
served as Vice President-Americas Field Operations for Honeywell-
Measurex, and from December 1997 until August 1998, he served as its
Director-North American Field Operations. From 1994 to 1997,

Mr. Carter served as Regional Manager-Northeast for Measurex
Corporation. Mr. Carter holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Chemical
Engineering from the University of Maine.

C. ALEX ESTEVEZ

Mr. Estevez was named Chief Financial Officer of the Company in April
1999. Prior to that time, he served as the Company’s Vice President of
Corporate Development from June 1998 until April 1999 and as the
Director of Planning from June 1997 to June 1998. Prior to joining the
Company, Mr. Estevez worked in the investment banking technology
group at Raymond James & Associates from September 1992 through
June 1995, where he focused on technology-based mergers and
acquisitions and equity offerings, including the Company ’s initial public
offering. From June to August 1996, he was an associate with Deloitte
& Touche LLP. Mr. Estevez holds an A.B. degree from Harvard College
and attended the J.L. Kellogg Graduate School of Management,
Northwestern University from September 1995 through May 1997,
where he received a Masters of Management (M.B.A.) in Finance

and Strategy.

I (from left to right)
Executive Officers:
Raliph Carter,
John Sterling,
Scott Millwood,
Larry Blackwell,
Alex Estevez

W. SCOTT MILLWCOD
Mr. Millwood has served as Executive Vice President,

Corporate Development since January of 2001. Prior
to that time, Mr. Millwood served as the Company's

Vice President, Sales and Marketing from February

2000 to January 2001 and as Vice President of Operations from
October of 1998 to January 2000. Prior to

becoming Vice President of Operations, Mr. Millwood served as the
Company’s Vice President of Corporate Sales from August 1995 to
October 1998. Prior to joining the Company in 1995, Mr. Millwood
served as regional manager for PowerCerv Corporation, a
manufacturing ERP company, and as a vertical market manager
for Peregrine Systems, Inc. (formerly Harbinger Corporation).

Mr. Millwood holds a Bachelor of Science in Economics from
Clemson University and a Masters in Business Administration from
Georgia State University. Mr. Millwood is the son-in-law of Larry G.
Blackwell, Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer, and
President of the Company.

JOHN M. STERLING, [l

Mr. Sterling has served as Executive Vice President, Telesales
since October 2000. Prior to that time, he led the Company's
electronic commerce initiatives from February 1999 until October
2000. Before being named Vice President of Electronic
Commerce, Mr. Sterling served as the Company's Vice President of
international Operations from September 1997 to January 1999,
overseeing the Company's international operations. Prior to hold-
ing such position, Mr. Sterling served as the Company's Managing
Director of European Operations from February through August
1997. Mr. Sterling also served as the Company's Vice President of
Sales from 1986 to January 1997, Prior to joining Datastream, Mr.
Sterling was a Regional Sales Manager for Silicon Valley Products
in San Mateo, California. Mr. Sterling holds a Bachelor of Science
degree in Political Science from The Citadel. Mr. Sterling is the son

of John M. Sterling, Jr., one of the Company's directors.
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“SAFE HARBOR” STATEMENT UNDER THE PRIVATE
SECURITIES LITIGATION REFORM ACT OF 1995

From time to time, we make oral and written statements that may constitute “forward looking statements”
(rather than historical facts) as defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 or by the Securities
and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) in its rules, regulations and releases, including Section 27A of the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”). We desire to take advantage of the “safe harbor” provisions in the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 for forward looking statements made from time to time, including, but not
limited to, the forward looking statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K (the “Annual Report™), as well
as those made in other filings with the SEC.

Forward looking statements can be identified by our use of forward looking terminology such as “may,”
“will,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “believe,” “continue” or other similar words. Such forward looking
statements are based on our management’s current plans and expectations and are subject to risks, uncertainties and
changes in plans that could cause actual results to differ materially from those described in the forward looking
statements. In the preparation of this Annual Report, where such forward looking statements appear, we have
sought to accompany such statements with meaningful cautionary statements identifying important factors that could
cause actual results to differ materially from those described in the forward looking statements, and we have
described many such items under “Risk Factors” set forth in the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in this Annual Report. Such factors include, but are not limited to:
the increasing competitiveness of the market for asset lifecycle management solutions; our ability to keep pace with
rapid technological changes and demands in our markets in order to remain competitive; increasing sales cycles and
other factors that may result in volatility of our quarterly results; our ability to successfully implement an application
service provider business model; the stability of certain of our strategic relationships, including those with iProcure
network suppliers and technology providers; our ability to develop products timely to be an innovator in the
industry; increasing competition in markets for our products; our ability to protect our proprietary technology; risks
associated with security that may deter the use of the Internet for conducting electronic commerce; risks associated
with managing international operations, including, but not limited to, exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations and
our ability to successfully compete in foreign markets; retaining our key personnel; and changes in economic
conditions generally, both domestic and international. The preceding list of risks and uncertainties, however, is not
intended to be exhaustive, and should be read in conjunction with other cautionary statements that we make herein
including, but not limited to, the “Risk Factors” set forth in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations,” as well as other risks and uncertainties identified from time to time in our
SEC reports, registration statements and public announcements.

LI 3 <

We do not have, and expressly disclaim, any obligation to release publicly any updates or any changes in our
expectations or any changes in events, conditions or circumstances on which any forward-looking statement is
based.




PARTI
Item 1. Business.
Basis of Presentation

As used herein, except as otherwise indicated by the context, the terms "Datastream” and “Company” are used
to refer to Datastream Systems, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

Company Overview

Datastream is a leading provider of asset lifecycle management solutions. These solutions enable businesses,
government agencies and other organizations to maximize the performance and profitability of assets. One
important component of this lifecycle is the procurement of spare parts used to maintain assets. Datastream’s
iProcure solution automates this process by connecting suppliers with buyers of industrial spare parts through the
Internet. Combined, these offerings create a complete, scaleable asset lifecycle management solution representing a
unique value proposition to the market.

For over sixteen years, Datastream has succeeded in providing asset management solutions to the marketplace.
As a result, Datastream has a broad customer base, including American Airlines, Chevron, Del Monte, Dunlop Tire
Corporation, Energizer Battery Corporation, FMC Airport Services, GE Fanuc, GlaxoSmithKline, H.J. Heinz
Company, Holly Corporation, Kaiser Permanente, Lear Corporation and Sony. The Company’s customer base
represents more than 65 percent of the Fortune 500. Datastream has sold systems in 129 countries through a
combination of telesales, direct sales and international distributors in virtually every major industry. The Company’s
products are found in a wide range of industries, including aerospace and defense, automotive, chemicals,
communications, computers and electronics, discrete manufacturing, general facilities, general manufacturing,
government, healthcare, hospitality, metals, petroleum, pharmaceuticals, process manufacturing, transportation and
utilities.

Company Background

Datastream was incorporated as a South Carolina corporation in February 1986 upon consummation of the
acquisition of the assets and liabilities of the Datastream Systems Division of a subsidiary of Wisconsin Power &
Light. Datastream reincorporated as a Delaware corporation in January 1995. Datastream's executive offices are
located at 50 Datastream Plaza, Greenville, South Carolina 29603, and its telephone number is (864) 422-5001.
Additional information on the Company can be found at www.datastream.net. Information contained on the
Company's home page shall not be deemed to be part of this Annual Report.

Industry Overview

For years, most organizations accounted for their assets at a central financial level and managed these assets at
an operational level. While Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) vendors helped organizations consolidate basic
asset data at the corporate level, Computerized Maintenance Management Software (CMMS) vendors helped
automate the daily management of these assets for improved asset productivity. The CMMS solution, however, was
locally focused, which typically did not address broader enterprise opportunities.

With advances in client server technology, organizations began to expand the nature of this asset management
process, integrating plants, offices and buildings in a way that produced a more comprehensive and dynamic
approach to asset management. These offerings became known as Enterprise Asset Management Solutions (EAM),
and many CMMS vendors broadened their vision to offer consolidated asset management across an enterprise. This
EAM solution, however, continued to address more operational issues than executive concerns, and asset
information at the corporate level remained fairly static within the fixed asset module of an ERP system. As a
result, the operational information, though powerful in terms of accuracy, comprehension and detail, seldom became
a strategic tool for executive management.




Through the Internet, organizations now have the opportunity to increase shareholder value through cost-
effective deployment of Internet-based asset management solutions. These solutions establish an information bridge
between operationally focused plant managers and maintenance managers and more strategically focused senior
level executives. This information improves asset deployment and repair, optimizes the frequency of asset
maintenance, reduces risk of catastrophic failure, and streamlines the selection, pricing and procurement of spare
parts necessary to asset longevity. As a result, assets perform for longer periods of time, reducing requirements to
procure new capital assets and increasing the total profitability of existing assets.

On February 13, 2002, the Company entered into an exclusive software development and licensing agreement
with GE Fanuc Automation North America, Inc. (“GE Fanuc”), an affiliate of GE Industrial Systems. Under the
agreement, GE Fanuc will offer globally Datastream 7i™ and iProcure™ as its exclusive asset management
component for GE Fanuc’s collaborative manufacturing solutions. GE Fanuc will market this solution as
CIMPLICITY® Enterprise Asset Management. GE Fanuc also obtains the exclusive rights to offer Datastream 7i
and iProcure globally to GE and select industry segments, including automotive original equipment manufacturers,
power and energy generation companies and medical facilities. The Company believes that this agreement is
representative of the types of new market opportunities that are created through Internet-based asset management
solutions, and the Company believes that companies such as GE are well positioned to service maintenance
requirements as turnkey third party providers.

Datastream products and offerings

Datastream 7 T** Datastream 71 is an Internet-based solution for asset lifecycle management that applies to
virtually any size operation, from the large, multi-national enterprise requiring global solutions to the single, small
shop with basic requirements. Datastream 7i is optimal in large, asset-intensive environments such as those found in
manufacturing, mining, petrochemical, pharmaceutical, communications, transportation and utilities. It is also well
suited for large, multi-national organizations that require high transaction volumes in multiple currencies and
languages. '

Datastream 7i offers a wide range of functional offerings, including asset management, commercial services,
dataBridge, electronic signatures, inspection management, key performance indicators, materials management,
mobile management, multi-organization, preventive maintenance, purchasing management, usage monitoring,
warranty management, and work management. Datastream 71 is available in nine languages. The following
describes certain functionality features of Datastream 71 in greater detail:

Asset Management: The asset management module enables an organization te record, maintain, structure and
standardize information about its physical assets. This module holds the identity, configuration and hierarchy of
physical assets as well as their complete technical and commercial specifications. Users can track an asset’s
current position, its past locations and its maintenance history. The asset management module also provides
cost history analysis functionality that enables users to examine asset performance and associated maintenance
costs.

Asset Management Services: This feature is designed for maintenance organizations that operate as business
units and charge customers for maintenance work that they perform. This feature defines time, material, and
labor costs in cost-charging arrangements associated with commercial agreements.

dataBridge™: Through dataBridge, Datastream 71 offers flexible and detailed solutions for integration with
third party systems. Datastream 7i’s open architecture leverages XML to facilitate data interchange. Through

. clearly defined Application Program Interfaces (APIs) and XML messages, Datastream 71 can integrate
virtually every aspect of its data with third party applications. Datastream 7i can also receive and process data
from external systems from Programmable Logic Controllers (PLCs) such as those offered by GE Fanuc.

FElectronic Signatures: Datastream 7i offers electronic signature and electronic record functionality that
electronically documents any service performed on an asset. As mandated by the Food and Drug
Administration's (FDA) Title 21 Code of Federal Regulations, Part 11 (21 CFR 11), the system documents
required information such as username, password, and signature meaning. These signature procedures enable




companies to determine who altered a document and when it was altered, which saves time and gives FDA
inspectors a clear audit trail.

Inspection Management: This feature manages inspection tasks, timed either by pre-determined intervals or
through the use of Risk Based Inspections (RBI). The inspection module also offers an open-ended set of
functions for specialized inspection requirements typically associated with corrosion management, vibration
analysis, and calibration management of equipment and machinery. Inspections can be triggered by user-
defined thresholds that alert users if certain parameters are met.

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs). Through KPIs, users define and monitor asset performance indicators,
such as mean time between equipment failures, without having to run reports. Using dashboard-like gauges,
KPIs provide a snapshot of how assets are performing against user-defined benchmarks. As a result, KPIs
become a powerful tool for enterprise level management of maintenance efficiency and asset productivity.

Materials Management: The materials management module streamlines the process of managing maintenance
materials and spare parts through constant management of inventory levels. Upon receipt of a material request,
this module allocates materials to work orders and automatically generates pick lists for such materials. The
module identifies items that need to be ordered based on stock levels, forecasts, and current reservations. As a
result, this module can significantly reduce costs associated with inventory and material handling costs.

Mobile Management: Datastream 71 provides mobile solutions that create additional opportunities for increased
efficiency by expanding asset management best practices to field operations, mobile assets or remote locations.
Using portable input devices, such as laptops, pagers, cell phones, and personal digital assistants (PDAs), users
can create and update work orders, book labor hours, define equipment relationships, activate equipment
warranties, record meter readings, and log inspection results from the field. Mobile systems can communicate
with Datastream 71 via radio frequency, infrared, or file transfer devices. This module is particularly effective
in reducing workloads associated with field service maintenance activities.

Multi-Organization: For companies located i multiple countries utilizing a variety of currencies and
languages, Datastream 7i can create multiple entities with one database. Each site within the organization is
able to view and edit its own data while using its own currency and language. These capabilities form a
collaborative environment that permits users across traditional boundaries to share common data.

Preventive Maintenance: With the preventive maintenance (PM) module, users can create PM tasks based on a
fixed date, flexible time period, or meter usage. Users may incorporate routes with a PM task to service multiple
assets that share similar PM requirements under a single work order. Datastream 7i can automatically adjust PM
schedules to compensate for early or late day tasks. In addition, Datastream 7i also offers PM Revision Control
to track modifications and control the authorization of modifications to PM scheduled tasks, materials, and
routes. With PM Revision Control, users may establish a control system for approving any changes to
preventive maintenance schedules.

Purchasing Management: The purchasing management module controls purchase order and invoice matching
processes for materials, hired labor, and services associated with maintenance and associated material requests.
This module registers standard contracts and blanket orders with vendors, along with their financial agreements
and conditions. The module is often triggered by Datastream 7i’s work management and material management
modules, and the purchasing can be programmed to automatically process orders through iProcure, which
integrates the buyer with suppliers through the Internet in a way that creates additional purchasing efficiencies.

Usage Monitoring: Datastream 71 offers an extensive metering function that allows an unlimited number of
meters to be associated with a single piece of equipment. Metered usage values flow down a customer-defined
equipment hierarchy to selected components, eliminating the need for supplemental metering. For example, a
vehicle odometer can be used to register usage for tires, transmission, engine, and any other components of the
vehicle. Usage values are retained by each item of usage even if that item is moved to a different location, so
that accurate usage history accrues. This information better informs the user of estimated asset life, asset failure
probability, and estimated work requirements.




Warranty Management. This feature enables users to track asset warranties and process warranty claims.
Datastream 7i accommodates both meter- and date-based warranties and enables a user to automatically track
all work orders that have a potential claim. In addition, Datastream 7i retrieves the work orders for claim
processing, posts specified meter readings for claim and historical purposes, and tracks time-elapsed based
warranties. This module ensures that warranty claims are optimally managed in order to reduce capital
deployment on replaced equipment under warranty.

Work Management: The work management module controls work order processes for routine maintenance,
response maintenance and periodic preventive maintenance. Datastream 7i provides numerous methods for
managing work load scheduling, including automatic labor required-versus-available calculation, drag-and-drop
rescheduling tools, comprehensive work analysis coding to facilitate failure trend evaluation, and a seamless
integration with Microsoft Project. The system allows users to review planned versus actual expenses for work
throughout the job cycle.

Architecture: Datastream 7i is a three-tier application completely designed and built around the flexibility,
speed and reliability of the Internet. These three tiers - the client, the application server, and the database
server, communicate via standard Internet protocols and leverage standard Internet technologies.

The client for Datastream 7i can be any standard Java-enabled Web browser such as Internet Explorer 6.x or
Netscape Navigator 6.x. When a user first accesses Datastream 71, all client-side intelligence is delivered
instantly in the form of a Java applet, which enables increased usability, speed and performance. This client
interacts directly with the second tier application server, which manages all business logic and workflow of the
system. Datastream 71’s application server component, based on Oracle technology, interacts with the third tier
database server, which is responsible for storing all customer data. Datastream 7i’s database server is Cracle
8/8i, providing the maximum possible scalability and performance. This architecture enables faster and easier
product deployments, greater security and reliability, and superior scalability.

The architecture for Datastream 7i has been built to provide the highest level of data security possible. The
system incorporates VeriSign digital certificates for authentication and 128-bit SSL encryption to protect data
being transmitted from the server to the client. S-HTTP is also supported. Datastream 7i’s multi-organization
security allows for large numbers of sites to utilize a single database while segregating business elements
between organizations. The system also offers electronic record generation and storage, electronic signature,
back-end tamper monitoring, preventive maintenance and inspection revision control, and an extensive auditing
and reporting suite. As a result, Datastream 71 offers compliance solutions for customers in the most stringent
regulatory environments, such as those required by the US Department of Energy and the US Food and Drug
Administration.

Datastream 7i is an open system that facilitates integration with third party systems via standard integration
tools. The product is standards compliant, supporting conventions such as JAVA, J2EE 1.3, Forms, Web
Services, XML, and SOAP.

MP2 Professional®. MP2 Professional is designed for more traditional small- to medium-sized organizations
dependent on more established technology architectures, such as those found in client server and file server
environments. MP2 Professional, available in both file server and client server versions, is able to generate over
4,000 standard reports providing analysis down to specific location, piece of equipment, and employee. Add-on
features to MP2 Professional include MP2 Messenger™, Pocket MP2™ Pagerlink™, MP2 Weblink® and the
capability to integrate OSHA regulations and FDA validation. The file server version of MP2 Professional is
available for Microsoft Access database; the client server version is available for Microsoft SQL Server and Oracle
databases. The client server version of MP2 Professional manages most of the processing at the server, which
expedites performance, ensures data integrity and security and reduces network traffic. MP2 Professional is
available in thirteen languages.




iProcure™. iProcure automates the process of procuring industrial spare parts by connecting suppliers and
buyers of industrial spare parts through the Internet. iProcure integrates seamlessly with Datastream 71 and MP2
Professional in a way that expands the functionality of purchasing management, inventory management, and supply
chain management. As a result, customers reduce item costs, reduce catalog search time, streamline requisition
processing, reduce "maverick" purchasing, and improve inventory control. The iProcure solution can also function
as a stand-alone procurement module that integrates seamlessly with existing third party systems. The iProcure
network currently has over 85 maintenance, repair and operations (MRQO) suppliers who participate in millions of
dollars of transactions every year through the iProcure network.

Hosted eoffering. Datastream customers have the option of accessing the functionality of Datastream 7i
through a hosting solution provided by Datastream. This offering allows customers to access product functionality
without the challenges and costs of managing such applications internally. Customers typically purchase the license
for Datastream 71 and pay an increased supportt fee that covers the price of hosting.

The hosted offering is housed on a highly reliable, fault tolerant platform located in a UUNet-WorldCom data
center. The data center is a generation 3 UUNet security hardened facility positioned directly on the UUNet
backbone. It has two physical bandwidth connections from SONET rings, redundant HVAC and triple redundant
diesel generators for backup power generation. In 2002, Datastream expects to also include a hot standby disaster
recovery site that will take over operations in the event of a major catastrophe at the primary facility.

Customers

For over sixteen years, Datastream has succeeded in providing asset management solutions to the marketplace.
As a result, Datastream has a broad customer base, including American Airlines, Chevron, Del Monte, Dunlop Tire
Corporation, Energizer Battery Corporation, FMC Airport Services, GE Fanuc, GlaxoSmithKline, H.J. Heinz
Company, Holly Corporation, Kaiser Permanente, Lear Corporation and Sony. The Company’s customer base
represents more than 65 percent of the Fortune 500. Datastream has sold systems in 129 countries through a
combination of telesales, direct sales and international distributors in virtually every major industry. The Company’s
products are found in a wide range of industries, including aerospace and defense, automotive, chemicals,
communications, computers and electronics, discrete manufacturing, general facilities, general manufacturing,
government, healthcare, hospitality, metals, petroleum, pharmaceuticals, process manufacturing, transportation and
utilities.

No customer has represented more than 5% of the Company's total annual revenues in any of the last three
fiscal years.

Sales and Marketing

The Company markets and sells its products and services through 226 sales and marketing professionals (as of
March 15, 2002), including a telesales force of 61 representatives and a direct sales force of 76. The Company’s
direct sales force calls on larger accounts marketing its enterprise-wide solutions, including Datastream 7i and
iProcure. The Company uses a customer resource management (CRM) software system with database marketing,
telemarketing, lead tracking and analysis and customer support capabilities.

The Company's marketing department consists of 22 employees (as of March 15, 2002) and is responsible for
generating leads through advertising, public relations, trade shows and seminars, strategic partnerships and direct
mail. The marketing department is also responsible for web site design and management, product marketing,
collateral development and provides input for the Company's product development efforts.

Internationally, the Company sells its products from its offices in Argentina, Brazil, Canada, Chile, China,
France, Germany, Japan, Mexico, the Netherlands, Singapore, and the United Kingdom. In addition, the Company
has a network of affiliates located throughout the balance of Europe, Latin America and the Pacific Rim. For
financial information about the Company’s segments and operations in different geographic locations, see note 12 to
the Company’s consolidated financial statements.




Alliances and Partners

Datastream has established business alliances with leading software companies, consulting firms, industrial
parts suppliers, resellers and other complementary vendors. The Company has established marketing agreements
with Oracle Corporation, Microsoft Corporation and webMethods. In addition, the Company has formal alliances or
teaming agreements with leading consulting and system integration firms such as Accenture, IBM Global Services,
and PricewaterhouseCoopers. These firms complement Datastream’s marketing and service delivery efforts by
combining vertical market and best practice expertise in enterprise-wide implementation projects.

The Company has established formal relationships with approximately 85 industrial parts suppliers and
distributors such as Fastenal, Graybar, Grainger, Office Depot, MSC Industrial Direct and WESCO. These supplier
partners are electronically connected to the 1Procure trading network and serve to streamline and optimize the supply
chain of spare parts required by our application customers.

On February 13, 2002, the Company entered into a software development and licensing agreement with GE
Fanuc Automation North America, Inc. “GE Fanuc”, an affiliate of GE Industrial Systems, to deliver integrated
asset management solutions globally. The new agreement brings together the proven software and service
capabilities of Datastream with the e-manufacturing systems, business expertise and worldwide customer support of
GE Fanuc.

Under the agreement, GE Fanuc will offer globally Datastream 7i™ and iProcure™ as its exclusive asset
management component for GE Fanuc’s collaborative manufacturing solutions. GE Fanuc will market this solution
as CIMPLICITY® Enterprise Asset Management. GE Fanuc also obtains the exclusive rights to offer Datastream 7i
and iProcure globally to GE and select industry segments, including automotive original equipment manufacturers,
power and energy generation companies and medical facilities. ’

Professional Services

The Company offers eight types of value added professional services to customers: (i) consulting and advisory
services to provide solutions to customer-specific applications problems, such as asset management or preventive
maintenance, (i) technical services, which provides on-site installation and systems integration services, (iii)
configuration services, which enhances the functionality of a customer's system, (iv) MRO optimization services,
which organizes MRO purchases, bringing structure and discipline to the parts purchasing and management process,
(v) maintenance and support services, (vi) project management, (vii) customer training, and (viii) hosting services.

The Company offered a total of 345 training sessions in 2001 at both customer locations and its training
facilities throughout the United States. Additionally, the Company offered training sessions at various international
locations. Most of the Company's training and consulting services are performed on a daily fee arrangement in
connection with implementation of the Company's systems. As of March 15, 2002, the Company employed 193
professional service personnel worldwide.

Maintenance and support services include unlimited, toll-free international access to Datastream's Support
staff, product upgrades, a searchable Internet site for common questions and requests, an Internet-based support tool
for self-help via the Internet, e-mail support and an Internet-based file download service. As of March 15, 2002, the
Company employed 99 support personnel in support operations worldwide. The Company provides support for its
international customers via a tiered approach: first-level support is provided by a network of partners in conjunction
with the local office with back-up expertise offered through the European technical center in Grenoble, France and
the North American technical center in Greenville, South Carolina.

Product Development

The Company’s ability to design, develop, test and support new product technology and enhancements in a
timely manner is essential to its future success. As of March 15, 2002, the Company's product development
department consisted of 104 people, focused on five key functions: development, quality assurance, documentation,
localization and technology. The Development group consisted of 68 software developers, most of whom hold




advanced programming or engineering degrees. From time to time, the Company utilizes contractors for certain
product development projects.

Management believes the Company has been able to respond quickly to technology trends. The Company
introduced its first DOS-based desktop product in 1986. In 1994, it released a Windows-based desktop product and
shortly thereafter added PC networking capabilities with its file server products. In 1996, the Company successfully
released the first of its enterprise class products based on client server architecture. During the last three years the
Company committed significant investments into building Internet-based applications. Total expenditures on
product development were $12.4 million in 2001.

Competition

The market for application software is intensely competitive. The principal methods of competition in our
markets include price, service and product performance. Certain of the Company's existing competitors, as well as a
number of potential market entrants, have greater financial, marketing, service and support and technical resources
than the Company. The Company will be required to make continued investments in product development,
particularly the development of Internet-based products, to meet competitive pressures. There can be no assurance
that the Company will have sufficient resources to make those investments or that the Company will be able to make
the technical advances necessary to continue to compete effectively in the future.

Datastream’s solutions allow companies to effectively manage assets throughout their entire lifecycle. As a
result, the Company competes with providers of EAM-related solutions such as Indus International, Mincom, MRO
Software and Peregrine Systems. In addition, the Company competes with enterprise resource planning (ERP)
vendors such as IFS, Invensys, J.D. Edwards, Oracle, and SAP, who offer enterprise-wide management systems
with asset maintenance modules.

An important component of asset lifecycle management is the procurement of spare parts used to maintain
these assets. Within this procurement market, the Company competes with companies such as Ariba, Clarus,
Commerce One, MRO Software and PurchasePro. This market is characterized by competitors with significantly
higher capital and human resources than the Company, and it is an industry driven by highly dynamic changes in
technology.

Internationally, the Company competes with both local and global software vendors. Local and regional
competitors are generally smaller, but are more knowledgeable of the specific markets in which they compete.
Global competitors participate actively in the European, Latin American and Pacific Rim countries, entering these
markets through distributors, direct sales and service offices or through strategic partnerships. Competition in these
countries is frequently intense and there can be no assurance that the Company will be successful in these markets.

Intellectual Property

The Company claims exclusive title to and ownership of the software it develops. The Company relies on a
combination of trade secret, copyright and trademark laws, nondisclosure and licensing agreements, "shrink-wrap"
licenses, “click-through” agreements and other contractual provisions and technical measures to protect its
intellectual property rights. There can be no assurance that these protections will be adequate to protect the
Company's intellectual property rights or that the Company's competitors will not independently develop software
products that are superior to the Company's products. Existing copyright laws provide limited protection to the
Company in prohibiting competitors from independently producing software products that are substantially similar
to Datastream’s products. The Company does not hold any patents or have any patent applications pending.

Although the Company incorporates both “shrink-wrap” licenses and “click-through” agreements for
protection against unauthorized use of its products, the Company may specifically negotiate license agreements that
are signed by both the licensee and the Company. Certain provisions of these licenses, including restrictions on use,
copying, transfer and disclosure of the licensed program, may be unenforceable under the laws of certain
jurisdictions. The Company’s international operations expose it to certain additional intellectual property risks in
that the laws of some countries do not protect the Company's proprietary rights to the same extent as do the laws of
the United States. Although the Company believes that its products, trademarks, servicemarks and other proprietary




rights do not infringe upon the proprietary rights of third parties, there can be no assurance that such parties will not
assert infringement claims against the Company. Any such claim made against the Company, with or without merit,
could be time-consuming and expensive to defend. The loss of proprietary technology or a successful claim against
the Company could have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial condition and results of operations.

Datastream®, Datastream 7i™, iProcure , dataBridge™, MP2® MP2 Professional®, MP2' WebLink®, and
PagerLink " are trademarks or service marks of the Company and are used in this report to denote the products and
services of the Company. SQL Server, Windows CE, Windows 2000, Windows NT and Microsoft BackOffice are
either trademarks or registered trademarks of Microsoft Corporation. Oracle is a registered trademark of Oracle
Corporation. CIMPLICITY is a registered trademark of GE Fanuc. Other product and company names mentioned
herein may be trademarks of their respective owners.

Seasonality

The Company’s international operations expose the Company to seasonal fluctuations in Europe, Asia and
Latin America, principally consisting of slower business conditions in the first and third quarters of the year.

Employees

As of March 15, 2002, the Company employed approximately 713 persons, including 226 sales and marketing
personnel, 294 service and support representatives, 89 administrative personnel and 104 employees involved in
product development. None of Datastream's employees is represented by a labor organization and the Company is
not a party to any collective bargaining agreement. Management considers relations between the Company and its
employees to be good.

Segment and Geographic Information

For information regarding the Company’s business segment and operations in different geographical regions,
see footnote 12 to the consolidated financial statements contained herein.




Item 2. Properties

The Company conducts its principal operations out of a 125,000 square foot headquarters building owned by
the Company located in Greenville, South Carolina. The Company also owns a 15,000 square foot building in
Dessau, Germany. The Company also has the following office properties under lease:

Square Feotage

Location Lease Expiration {(approx.)
Munich, Germany November 2002 16,000
Rotterdam, The Netherlands November 2002 12,000
Singapore June 2002 9,900
Grenoble, France February 2002 6,500
Buenos Aires, Argentina March 2005 4,306
Irvine, California September 2003 3,800
Toronto, Canada May 2003 3,600
Woodbridge, New Jersey November 2003 2,800
Paris, France February 2008 2,000
Mexico City, Mexico July 2002 2,070
Atlanta, Georgia April 2004 2,994
Sao Paulo, Brazil January 2004 1,500
Chicago, Illinois July 2003 1,400
Dallas, Texas February 2003 1,400
Shanghai, China Month-to-Month 1,000
Tokyo, Japan June 2002 420
Lancaster, Pennsylvania Month-to-Month 150
Santiago, Chile September 2003 480
Theale, Tnited Kingdom September 2004 2,061

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.
Datastream is occasionally involved in legal proceedings or other claims arising out of its operations in the
normal course of business. No such claims are expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a material adverse

affect on the Company.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.

No matters were submitted to a vote of Datastream’s stockholders during the fiscal quarter ended December
31, 2001.




PART IT
Item 5. Market for Registrant’'s Common Stock and Related Stockholder Matters.

The Company’s common stock, $.01 par value per share (the “Common Stock”), is traded on the Nasdaq
National Market under the symbol DSTM. The Company has never declared or paid any cash dividends on its
Common Stock. However, the Company declared a two-for-one stock split, effected in the form of a one-for-one
share dividend, effective September 12, 1995. The Company declared a second two-for-one stock split, effected in
the form of a one-for-one share dividend, effective January 30, 1998. The Company does not anticipate paying any
cash dividends in the foreseeable future. The chart below sets forth the high and low closing prices for each quarter
of the Company’s last two fiscal years.

Quarter Ended High Low

March 31, 2000 $47.50 $17.25
June 30, 2000 30.25 8.25
September 30, 2000 13.69 8.25
December 31, 2000 14.75 7.13
March 31, 2001 13.00 7.94
June 30, 2001 9.75 5.35
September 30, 2001 7.30 2.70
December 31, 2001 6.45 2.50

The closing price of a share of the Company's Common Stock on March 15, 2002 was $8.99. As of March 185,
2002, the Company had 192 shareholders of record of its Common Stock. As of the date of the Company's last
Annual Meeting of Stockholders, June 8, 2001, the Company had approximately 8,100 beneficial owners of its
Common Stock.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

Year Ended December 31,
1997 1998 1999 2000 2001
(in thousands, except per share data)

Statement of Operations Data:

Total TEVENUES ...veeevereieeere e, $69,768 $98,555 $118,776 397,368 $89,525
Total cost of revenues (1) ....c.ceeeeerennne 22,131 34,756 46,545 42,023 35.265
Gross profit......ccoceericieniennrenece 47,637 63,799 72,231 55,345 54,260
Total operating expenses (2) ............... 31,076 33,251 61,845 76,268 70,650
Operating income (10SS) ....c.ccovvrrenenane. 16,561 10,548 10,386 (20,923) (16,390)
Net other income (EXPENSe).......coueeene. 987 536 1,461 (4.021) 792
Income (loss) before income taxes...... 17,548 11,084 11,847 (24,944) (15,598)
Income tax expense (benefit)............... 6,110 6.384 4412 (8.101) (1.078)
Net income (108S)....c.covrcremrrirervccrncenee $11.438 3.4.700 $ 7435 $(16,843) §$(14,520)
Basic net income (loss) per share ........ § 62 $ 25 $§ 39 § (84 § (71)

Diluted net income (loss) per share...... $ .59 § 23 § 37 §_ _(8) §_(71)

Basic weighted average common

shares outstanding (3)......cccovvernininnnins 18,397 18,935 19,118 20,009 20,403
Diluted weighted average common
shares outstanding (3).......cccoccevvmnnene. 19,246 20,279 20,098 20,009 20,403
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As of December 31,
1997 1998 1999 2000 2001

(in thousands)

Balance Sheet Data:

Working capital .......coccovverervinconncennn $22,290  $25,792 $34,652 $30,353 $27,859
Total aSSets ....ovvevevrerceererrecene e 65,097 86,790 88,175 85,283 71,417
Long-term debt, less current portion ... 603 297 224 8 -
Total stockholders’ equity .......c.......... 47,108 60,606 67,284 60,598 48,624

(1) In 1998, includes $3,944 of capitalized and acquired software written off as a result of the acquisition of
Datastream Systems GmbH & Co KG and pursuant to a plan of re-organization and restructuring.

(2) In 1998, includes $6,667 of tax effected in-process research and development acquired and written off as a part
of the acquisition of Datastream Systems GmbH & Co KG and Datastream - SIS PTE, Ltd., and other charges
pursuant to a plan of re-organization and restructuring. In 1999, includes ($294) of restructuring reserves
written off at completion of re-organization and restructuring plan. In 2000, includes $3,028 related to tax
effected legal settlements. In 2001, includes $9,955 impairment charge for goodwill and other long-lived
assets.

(3) See note 13 to the consolidated financial statements for discussion of calculation of basic and diluted common
shares outstanding.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the "Selected Financial Data" and the Company's
consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included herein. Readers are also encouraged to read the
Jollowing in conjunction with the “'Safe Harbor’ Statement Under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995 appearing at the beginning of this Report, as well as the “Risk Factors’ section of this “Management'’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

Overview

Datastream is a leading provider of asset lifecycle management solutions. These solutions enable businesses,
government agencies and other organizations to maximize the performance and profitability of assets. One
important component of this lifecycle is the procurement of spare parts used to maintain assets. Datastream’s
iProcure solution automates this process by connecting suppliers with buyers of industrial spare parts through the
Internet. Combined, these offerings create a complete, scaleable asset lifecycle management solution representing a
unique value proposition to the market.

Critical Accounting Policies

Critical accounting policies are defined as those that are reflective of significant judgments and uncertainties,
and potentially result in materially different results under different assumptions and conditions. For a detailed
discussion on the application of these and other accounting policies, see Note 1 in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements included in Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

Revenue Recognition - The Company’s revenue consists primarily of fees for product sales, professional
services, hosting and customer support. The Company recognizes license revenues when a non-cancelable license
agreement has been signed, the product has been shipped, the fees are fixed and determinable, collectibility is
probable and vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value exists to allocate the total fee to the multiple elements
of the arrangement. Vendor-specific objective evidence is based on the price charged when the same element is sold
separately or the price established by management for an element not yet sold separately. The amount of license
revenue is determined based on the residual amount of the multiple element contract value that is not assigned to
other elements based on the vendor specific objective evidence of those elements. If an acceptance period is
required, the Company recognizes revenue upon customer acceptance or the expiration of the acceptance period.
The Company’s standard agreements do not contain product return rights.
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The Company recognizes support revenues, which consist of fees for ongoing support and product updates,
ratably over the term of the contract, typically one year. The amount of support revenue collected but not yet
recognized is recorded as deferred revenue in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. Revenues from
professional services are recognized as the services are performed. Revenue from hosted software service
arrangements is recognized ratably over the term of the hosting arrangement.

The Company continually evaluates its obligations with respect to warranties, returns and refunds. Based on
historical trends and management's evaluation of current conditions, any potential obligations that are inherent in the
accounts receivable balance are adequately provided for through the allowance for doubtful accounts. The
Company may, in certain circumstances, grant discounts for product sales. The discounts are recognized as a
reduction of product revenue.

Impairment of Geodwill and Other Leng-Lived Assets - Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase
price over the fair values of assets-acquired. Goodwill is amortized using the straight-line method over its estimated
useful life of seven years. Under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 121, "Accounting for the
Impairment of Long Lived Assets and for Long Lived Assets to be Disposed of” (SFAS 121), the recoverability of
goodwill is reviewed upon certain triggering events. Impairment, if any, is determined when the carrying value of
an asset cannot be recovered over its remaining useful life from undiscounted future cash flows, and is measured and
recognized if the fair value is less than the asset’s carrying amount.

During 2001 the Company identified indicators of possible impairment of goodwill and other long-lived assets
which included, but were not limited to, significant negative industry and economic trends, significant under-
performance of certain of the Company's international operations relative to historical or projected future operating
results, the Company's net book value as compared to market capitalization and a decline in the Company's stock
price for a sustained period. Total impairment charges of approximately $10.0 million were recorded in 2001. No
such charges were incurred in 1999 or 2000.

Income Taxes - The determination of the Company’s tax provision is complex due to operations in several tax
jurisdictions outside the United States which may be subject to certain risks not normally expected in the United
States. Tax regimes in certain jurisdictions are subject to significant changes which may be applied on a retroactive
basis. If this were to occur, the Company’s tax expense (benefit) could be materially different than the amounts
reported. Furthermore, in determining the valuation allowance related to deferred tax assets, the Company estimates
taxable income into the future and determine the magnitude of deferred tax assets which are more likely than not to
be realized. Future taxable income could be materially different than amounts estimated, in which case the valuation
allowance would need to be adjusted.

Functional Currencies for the Purpose of Consolidation - In preparing the consolidated financial
statements, the Company is required to translate the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries from the currency in
which they keep their accounting records, the “local currency”, into United States dollars. This process results in
exchange gains and losses which, under the relevant accounting guidance are included within the consolidated
statement of operations for transactions whose terms are denominated in a currency other than the entity’s local
currency. Gains and losses resulting from translation from the local currency to US dollars are recorded as a
separate part of stockholders’ equity under the caption "other accumulated comprehensive income (loss)”.

The magnitude of these gains or losses is dependent upon movements in the exchange rates of the foreign
currencies in which the Company transacts business against the United States dollar. These currencies include the
Japanese Yen, Chinese Renminbi, Brazilian Real, the Euro, the United Kingdom Pound Sterling, Argentine, Chilean
and Mexican Peso, and Australian and Singapore Dollars. Any future translation gains or losses could be
significantly higher than those noted in each of 2000 and 2001. In addition, if management determines that the
functional currency of one of the Company’s subsidiaries has changed at any point in time, the Company would be
required to include any translation gains or losses from the date of change in the consolidated statement of
operations.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Receivable - The Company maintains allowances for doubtful accounts
for estimated losses resulting from the inability of its customers to make required payments. If the financial
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condition of the Company's customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make
payments, additional allowances may be required.

The above is not intended to be a comprehensive list of all of our accounting policies. In many cases, the
accounting treatment of a particular transaction is specifically dictated by accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America, with no need for management’s judgment in their application. There are also areas
in which management’s judgment in selecting any available alternative would not produce a materially different
result. See our audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto which begin on page F-1 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K which contain a summary of significant accounting policies and other disclosures required by
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Recent Developments

On February 13, 2002, the Company entered into a software development and licensing agreement with GE
Fanuc Automation North America, Inc. {(“GE Fanuc”), an affiliate of GE Industrial Systems, to deliver integrated
ALM solutions globally. Under the agreement, GE Fanuc will offer globally Datastream 7i™ and iProcure™ as its
exclusive asset management component for GE Fanuc’s collaborative manufacturing solutions. GE Fanuc will
market this solution as CIMPLICITY® Enterprise Asset Management. GE Fanuc also obtains the exclusive rights to
offer Datastream 7i and iProcure globally to GE and select industty segments, including automotive original
equipment manufacturers, power and energy generation companies and medical facilities.

In connection with the agreement, Datastream issued a warrant to GE Fanuc to purchase up to 50,000 shares of
common stock of the Company. The warrant was exercisable on the date of issuance and remains exercisable for
three years from the date of issuance. The exercise price per share is $6.95, which was the market price of the
Company’s common stock on the date of issuance of the warrant. The warrant agreement allows for net issuance at
the option of GE Fanuc and provides “piggy back” registration rights for the underlying common stock.

The Company has accounted for the warrant using the guidance of Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) 96-18,
Accounting for Equity Instruments That Are Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with
Selling, Goods or Services and EITF 00-25, Vendor Income Statement Characterization of Consideration Paid to a
Reseller of the Vendor’s Products. As a result, on the date of issuance the Company recorded the fair value of the
warrant as a credit to Additional Paid-In Capital and a debit to prepaid commissions. The Company will record
amortization of the prepaid commisstons as a reduction of revenue over the three years the warrant is exercisable.
The impact to the financial condition of the Company will be immaterial over the three year period.

On February 27, 2002, MRO Software, Inc. announced thar it had withdrawn its previously announced offer to
acquire the Company. On December 20, 2001, MRO Software publicly announced an unsolicited offer to purchase
all the outstanding shares of the Company for $6.00 per share, comprised of $1.00 per share in cash and $5.00 per
share in MRO Software common stock. On January 8, 2002, the Board of Directors of the Company announced its
rejection of the offer, noting that it had determined that the offer was inadequate, did not reflect the inherent value of
the Company, and was not in the best interest of Datastream or its stockholders.

13




Results of Operations

The following tables set forth statement of operations data for the three years ended December 31, 1999, 2000
and 2001, the percentage change in such data from period to period for each of the corresponding periods and the
percentage that such data bears to total revenues for each period.

Percent
Year Ended December 31, Change
1999 2000 2001 99-00 00-01
(in thousands, except per share data)
Statement of Operations Data:
Revenues:
Product. oo $39,268 $29,371 $25,782 (25.2)% (12.2)%
Professional services and support.............. 79,508 67.997 63,743 (14.5) (6.3)
Total TEVENUES...c..ooovvevriiiireerce e 118,776 97,368 89,525 (18.0) (8.1)
Cost of revenues:
Cost of product revenues ......c.cceeevveeercene. 2,320 1,982 1,383 (14.6) (30.2)
Cost of professional
services and SUpPpPOIt TEVENUES. ................ 40,124 40,041 33,882 0.2 (15.4)
Amortization and
Write-off of capitalized software............ 4.101 ~ - N/M -
Total costs of revenues ........cccccveenee 46,545 42,023 35,265 9.7) (16.1)
GIOSS Profit....ocovvcriviiiiiieii e 72,231 55,345 54,260 (23.4) (2.0)
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing..........c.ccoeverviinnee, 33,695 44,405 36,229 31.8 (18.4)
Product development...........c.oovviiinienennen. 14,555 15,887 12,384 9.2 (22.0)
General and administrative ..o 10,833 12,954 9,816 19.6 (24.2)
Goodwill amortization ..........coccoeeeericnne. 3,056 3,022 2,266 (1.1) (25.0)
Impairment of goodwill and other long-
lived assets ....c.ovvverneriiiiiie e — - 9,955 — N/M
Change in restructuring estimate ............... (294) — - N/M -
Total operating expenses ..........cccocveeieenenns 61,845 76,268 70,650 233 (7.4)
Operating income (10S5) .oceeerverririiiriniccnnnnns 10,386 (20,923) (16,390) N/M 217
Net other income (€Xpense). ......cccvvvniveeeniine 1,461 (4.021) 792 N/M N/M
Income (loss) before income taxes .................. 11,847 (24,944) (15,598) N/'M 375
Income tax expense (benefit)........cccovvieninnn 4412 (8,101) (1.078) N/M 86.7
Net income (1088} ...overeriiiiiie e § 7,435 $(16,843) $(14,520) N/M 13.8%
Basic net income (loss) per share...................... S__.39 S__(.84) S__(71) N/M 15.5%
Diluted net income (loss) per share ................. s 37 $ (84) $__(71) N/M 15.5%

N/M — Not meaningful
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Year Ended December 31,

1999 2000 2001
Statement of Operations Data:
Revenues:
Product ..o e 33.1% 30.2% 28.8%
Professional services and SUPPOTL........ccococviieeenecrcininins 66.9 69.8 71.2
Total TEVENUES .ottt 100.0 100.0 100.0
Cost of revenues:
Cost of product TEVENUES..........cocviiiiiiiiiiiciicne e 1.9 2.0 1.5
Cost of professional services and support revenues.......... 338 412 379
Amortization and write off of capitalized software........... _ 35 - -
Total cost 0f TEVENUES........covvrriiiii et 39.2 43.2 394
Gross PIOfit....c.cceniiiiiiiiiic e s 60.8 56.8 60.6
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing ........c.coceecereeniiiiniininenee 28.4 45.6 40.5
Product development...........cccocceviiniiniiiineinccs 12.2 16.3 13.8
General and adminiStrative..........c.cocoerverrereincniencenennee. 9.1 133 11.0
Goodwill amOrtization ...........cevvvereeireeincnniraeneareanenees 2.6 3.1 2.5
Change in restructuring esStimate ...........ccccoveevererericnnencns (0.2) - -
Write-off of goodwill and other long-lived assets - R 11.1
Total operating eXpenses .......cccovvverevriereeriinirerenneresnenne 52.1 78.3 78.9
Operating income (10SS) .ovvvvvivievirierieereee e 8.7 (21.5) (18.3)
Net other INCOmE (EXPENSE) .. coverveeiireeirirriiiiiieree e 1.2 (4.1 0.9
Income (loss) before INCOME taXes .....oveevvievcriiiieninreniinecens 9.9 (25.6) (17.4)
Income tax expense (benefit).................... e 37 (8.3) (1.2)
Net iIncome (10SS).....vovviiiiiiiiiies et _6.2% (17.3)% (16.2)%

2001 Compared to 2000 and 2000 Compared to 1999

Total Revenues. Total revenues for 2001 decreased 8.1% to approximately $89.5 million from approximately
$97.4 million in 2000. This decrease was due primarily to product transitions, sales and marketing transitions,
decreased services resulting from desreased product revenues and unfavorable market conditions.

Total revenues for 2000 decreased 18.0% to approximately $97.4 million from approximately $118.8 million
in 1999, due principally to unfavorable market conditions, longer sales cycles, product rotations, changes within the
sales organization causing a disruption in license sales, and decreased service revenue resulting from decreased
product revenues.

International revenues in 2001 were approximately $34.2 million or 38.2% of revenue, compared to $35.4
million, or 36.3% of total revenues in 2000, compared to $42.8 million, or 36.1% of total revenues in 1999. See
note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Product revenues decreased 12.2% to approximately $25.8 million in 2001 from approximately $29.4 million
in 2000, and decreased 25.2% to approximately $29.4 million in 2000 from approximately $39.3 nullion in 1999.
The 2001 decrease was due primarily to product transition to Datastream 7i, unfavorable market conditions and
longer sales cycles. The 2000 decrease was a result of unfavorable market conditions, longer sales cycles, product
rotations and changes within the sales organization causing a disruption in license sales. As a percentage of
revenues, revenues from software products decreased to 28.8% in 2001 from 30.2% in 2000 and decreased to 30.2%
in 2000 from 33.1% in 1999.

Professional service and support revenues decreased 6.3% to approximately $63.7 million in 2001 from
approximately $68.0 million in 2000 and decreased 14.5% to approximately $68.0 million in 2000 from
approximately $79.5 million in 1999. The 2001 and 2000 decreases are due to the decrease in license sales resulting
in decreased installation, training and integration services. As a percentage of revenues, revenues from professional
services and support increased to 71.2% in 2001 from 69.8% in 2000 and 66.9% in 1999.

Cost of Revenues. Cost of product revenues as a percentage of total revenues decreased to 1.5% in 2001 from
2.0% in 2000 and increased to 2.0% in 2000 from 1.9% in 1999. The decrease as a percentage of revenues in 2001
is due to the decrease in smaller-sized license sales which typically have higher cost of sales, in aggregate. The
increase as a percentage of revenues in 2000 reflects the effect of fixed shipping costs and decreased product
revenues.

Cost of professional services and support decreased as a percentage of total revenues to 37.9% in 2001 from
41.2% in 2000. Cost of professional services increased as a percentage of revenues in 2000 to 41.2% from 33.8% in
1999. The decrease as a percentage of revenue in 2001 was due to improved utilization rates and a reduction in
service personnel expenditures. The increase as a percentage of revenues in 2000 from 1999 was due primarily to
decreased revenues in 2000, lower utilization rates, and increased costs for iProcure.

Amortization and write off of capitalized software includes approximately $4.1 million of amortization of
capitalized software for 1999. Capitalized software costs were fully amortized at the end of 1999. There was no
amortization of capitalized software in 2000 and 2001.

Sales and Marketing Expenses. Sales and marketing expenses for 2001 decreased 18.4% to approximately
$36.2 million from approximately $44.4 million in 2000 and increased 31.8% in 2000 to approximately $44.4
million from approximately $33.7 million in 1999. As a percentage of total revenues, these expenses were 40.5% in
2001, 45.6% in 2000 and 28.4% in 1999. The decrease as a percentage of revenues in 2001 was primarily due to
decreased marketing and personnel expenditures. Conversely, the increase as a percentage of revenues in 2000 from
1999 was due primarily to increased marketing and personnel expenditures for new products, especially iProcure.

Product Development Expenses. Total expenditures on product development decreased 22.0% to
approximately $12.4 million in 2001 from approximately $15.9 million in 2000 and increased to approximately
$15.9 million in 2000 from approximately $14.6 million in 1999. The decrease in 2001 was primarily due to
reduced personnel expenditures and efficiencies gained by the Company’s move to a single development code base.
The increase in 2000 was primarily due to the hiring of additional employees and third party consultants to work on
the Company's Internet-based products. Net product development expenses as a percentage of revenues were
13.8%, 16.3% and 12.2% in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. Amortization of capitalized product development
costs is charged to cost of product sales and totaled approximately $4.1 million in 1999. Capitalized software costs
were fully amortized at the end of 1999.

General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses include the cost of the
Company's finance, human resources and information services. General and administrative expenses decreased
24.2% in 2001 to approximately $9.8 million from $13.0 million in 2000 and increased 19.6% to approximately
$13.0 million in 2000 from approximately $10.8 million in 1999. The 2001 decrease was due primarily to reduced
personnel expenditures. The 2000 increase was due primarily to costs associated with the iProcure initiatives and
increased international infrastructure costs. As a percentage of total revenues, general and administrative expenses
were 11.0% in 2001, 13.3% in 2000 and 9.1% in 1999.
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Goodwill Amortization. Goodwill amortization decreased 25.0% to approximately $2.3 million in 2001 from
$3.0 million in 2000 and decreased 1.1% to approximately $3.0 million in 2000 from approximately $3.1 million in
1999. The decrease in 2001 was due to the write-off of goodwill during 2001 due to impairment. The 2000 decrease
was due to adjustments to goodwill balances in 1999. As a percentage of total revenues, goodwill amortization was
2.5% in 2001, 3.1% in 2000 and 2.6% in 1999.

Change in Restructuring Estimate. Approximately $300,000 of unutilized restructuring related reserves was
written off at December 31, 1999. There were no related costs in 2000 and 2001.

Write-off of Goodwill and Other Long-Lived Assets. During 2001 the Company identified indicators of
possible impairment of goodwill and other long-lived assets which included, but were not limited to, significant
negative industry and economic trends, significant under-performance of certain of the Company's international
operations relative to historical or projected future operating results, the Company's net book value as compared to
market capitalization and a decline in the Company's stock price for a sustained period. Total impairment charges of
approximately $10.0 million were recorded in 2001. No such charges were incurred in 1999 or 2000.

Other Income/Expense. Other income/expense increased to approximately $800,000 of income in 2001 from
approximately ($4.0) million of expense in 2000 and decreased to approximately ($4.0) million of expense in 2000
from approximately $1.5 million of income in 1999. The increase in income in 2001 was due primarily to one-time
costs incurred in 2000 related to the Company’s class action lawsuit and to settle the escrow claims dispute with
former shareholders of SQL Systems. The decrease from 1999 to 2000 was due to these one-time costs occurring in
2000. See Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

Income Taxes. The Company's effective income tax rate decreased to 7.0% in 2001 from 32.5% in 2000 and
decreased to 32.5% in 2000 from 37.2% in 1999. The decrease in the effective tax rate from 2000 to 200! and 1999
to 2000 is a result of the Company’s permanent book/tax differences when considering the operating losses in 2000
and 2001.

Net Income (Less). The Company's net loss decreased in 2001 to a loss of ($14.5) million or (8.71) basic and
dilutive loss per share from a loss of ($16.8) million or ($.84) basic and dilutive loss per share in 2000 and decreased
in 2000 to a loss of approximately ($16.8) million or ($.84) basic and dilutive loss per share from a profit of
approximately $7.4 million in 1999 or $.39 basic earnings per share ($.37 diluted earnings per share). The 2001
decrease in net loss is a direct result in the reduction of cost of revenues and total operating expenses. The 2000
decrease in net income is attributed to the decrease in license sales, increased costs related to new products,
including iProcure, and the impact of the expenditures related to legal settlements.

Inflation and changing prices have not had a material impact on the Company’s net sales and income for the
last three fiscal years.

Quarterly Results

General. The Company believes that its future results of operations may be subject to quarterly variations.
The Company experiences seasonal revenue fluctuations in Europe, Asia and Latin America, principally consisting
of slower business conditions in the first and third quarters of the year.

The following table presents certain unaudited quarterly financial information for each of the eight quarters
through the quarter ended December 31, 2001. In the opinion of management, this information has been prepared
on the same basis as the audited consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report and all
necessary adjustments have been included in the amounts stated below to present fairly the unaudited quarterly
results when read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and notes
thereto. The Company's quarterly results have in the past been subject to fluctuations, and thus the operating results
for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of results for any future period. All amounts shown (except per share
amounts) are expressed in thousands.
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Quarter Ended

2000 2001
March June Sept. Dec. March June Sept. Dec.
31, 30, 30, 31, 31, 30, 30, 31,
Revenues:
Product....c....coocvcoeniiireeniincns $7,553 $5,574 $7,746 $8,498 $7,434 $6,475 85,039  $6,834
Professional services and
SUPPOTE vt 17.698 17,437 16,671 16,191 17.099 16,538 15,138 14,968
Total revenues.......c......... 25,251 23,011 24,417 24,689 24,533 23,013 20,177 21,802
Cost of revenues:
Cost of product revenues...... 462 568 549 403 667 135 356 225
Cost of professional
services and support 10,569 10,755 9.478 9,239 9,000 9,063 7912 7,907
TEVENUES ...ooverrvnirrienerienes
Total cost of revenues ...... 11,031 11,323 10,027 9.642 9.667 9.198 8,268 8.132
Gross profit ......coeeeiericecrniencens 14,220 11,688 14,390 15,047 14,866 13,815 11,909 13,670
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing ............. 11,476 12,408 10,375 10,146 9,916 9,468 8,093 8,752
Product development............ 4,227 4,745 3,734 3,181 3,373 3,376 3,065 2,570
General and administrative... 3,007 3,428 3,385 3,134 2,462 2,460 2,633 2,262
Goodwill amortization ........ 755 756 755 756 755 755 755 -
Write-off of goodwill and
other long-lived assets...... — — - - - - 9,955 —
Total operating expenses.............. 19.465 21337 18,249 17,217 16.506 16,059 24501 13,584
Operating income (1058).......coccc.. (5,245) (9,649) (3,859) (2,170) (1,640) (2,244) (12,592) 86
Net other income (expense).......... __130 302 {4,560) 107 93 218 322 159
Income (loss) beforz income
EAXES coevcvenereecrereee e (5,115) (9,347) (8,419) (2,063) (1,547) (2,026) (12,270) 245
Income tax benefit........cceveririiinas (2,048) (3.087) (2,651) 315) (304) (365) (409) -
Net income (108S) ..oovovevecirircnenns $(3.067) £(6,260)  $(5,768) 1,74 $(1,243) 3,661y $(11.861) $245
Basic net income (loss) per
SRATE oot $§ (16) § (3 S (29 (.09) $ (06) § (08) S_(58) § .01
Diluted net income (loss) per
Share...coovv et § (16) S (31 $ _(29) (.09) $.(06) 5 (08) $_(58) §.01
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The table below sets forth the percentage relationship of certain items to total revenues with regard to the
Company’s results of operations for each of the eight quarters through the quarter ended December 31, 2001,

Quarter Ended
2000 2001
March June Sept. Dec. March June Sept. Dec.
31, 30, 30, 31, 31, 30, 30, 31,
Revenues:
Product ..o 29.9% 24.2% 31.7% 34.4% 30.3% 28.1% 25.0% 31.4%
Professional services and
SUPPOTT ceritcie e 70.1 75.8 683 65.6 09.7 71.9 75.0 68.6
Total revenues................ 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0
Cost of revenues:
Cost of product revenues......
1.8 25 22 1.6 2.7 0.6 1.8 1.0
Cost of professional
services and support
TEVEMUES ...oovitiierenrraieenns 419 46.8 388 375 36.7 394 39.2 363
Total cost of revenues ......
437 493 41.0 39.1 39.4 40.0 41.0 373
Gross profit ...co.oocoeiireccniene 56.3 50.7 59.0 60.9 60.6 60.0 59.0 62.7
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing ............. 454 53.9 425 41.1 404 41.1 40.1 40.1
Product development 16.7 20.6 15.3 12.9 13.8 14.7 15.2 11.8
General and administrative... 119 14.9 13.9 12.7 10.0 10.7 13.1 104
Goodwill amortization ......... 3.0 33 31 3.1 31 33 37 -
Write-off of goodwill and other
long-lived assets.........c......... — = - — — — 493 —
Total operating expenses...... 17.0 92.7 74.8 69.8 67.3 69.8 121.4 62.3
Operating income (10ss)............... (20.8) (42.0) (15.8) (8.9) 6.7 (9.8) (62.4) 0.4
Net other income (expense).......... 0.5 13 (18.7) 0.4 0.4 1.0 1.6 0.7
Income (loss) before income
TAXES oo (20.2) 40.7) (34.5) (8.5) (63) (8.8) (60.8) 1.1
Income tax expense (benefit) ....... (8.1) (13.4) (10.9) (1.3 1.2) (1.6) 2.0) =
Net income (1088) .....cccoovnniinrnnnan (12.1)% (27.3)% (23.6)% (1.2Y% (5.1)% 2% (58.8)% 1.1%
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Liguidity and Capital Resources

In 2001, the Company funded its operating activities primarily from cash generated from operations. The
Company ended 2001 with $25.4 million in cash and cash equivalents, defined as securities maturing in less than 90
days. The Company intends to reinvest the proceeds of maturing U.S. Government securities in similar U.S.
Government securities.

Cash provided by operations increased to $14.7 million at December 31, 2001 compared to cash used in
operating activities of ($5.2) million at December 31, 2000. The increase is due mainly to income tax refunds
received in the current year, a reduction in days sales outstanding and an increase in deferred revenue with
customers.

In July 1997, the Company made a $2.0 million investment in Distinction Software, Inc. (“Distinction”). This
investment represented less than 20% of the outstanding capital stock of Distinction. In November 1998, Distinction
and Peoplesoft entered into an agreement whereby, pursuant to the satisfactory delivery of interim software
development and revenue targets, Peoplesoft agreed to purchase Distinction. In 1999, the purchase of Distinction by
Peoplesoft was completed. The Company received 161,767 shares of Peoplesoft common stock in exchange for its
investment in Distinction. During the fourth quarter of 1999, the Company sold 150,000 shares of Peoplesoft
common stock for approximately $3.1 million. During 2000, the Company sold the remaining 11,767 shares of
Peoplesoft common stock for approximately $250,000.

In March 2000, the Company made a $2.0 million investment in Dovebid, Inc. ("Dovebid"), one of the world's
leading auctioneers and operators of a business to business Internet auction site. This investment represents less than
20% of the outstanding capital stock of Dovebid.

The Company maintains a Singapore line of credit for Sgd 1,242,500 (approximately $673,000) which bears
interest at 1% over the Singapore dollar prime lending rate. During the third quarter of 2001 the Company's
$5,000,000 multi-currency line of credit expired and was not renewed. The Company does not foresee the need to
enter into any new credit facilities, domestic or foreign, in the immediate future.

On February 26, 2001 the Company announced that its Board of Directors had authorized the repurchase of up
to 500,000 shares of Datastream's outstanding common stock. The repurchased shares will be used for general
corporate purposes, including grants of employee stock options. During the first three quarters of 2001, the
Company repurchased 284,500 shares of common stock at a cost of $1,620,288. The repurchased shares were added
to the 405,000 treasury shares (cost of $4,052,763) repurchased by the company in 1999 under a separate stock
repurchase plan. The shares are classified as treasury stock on the balance sheet and are reported at cost. This plan
expired during the third quarter of fiscal 2001.

Subsequent to the end of the third quarter, on October 4, 2001 the Company announced that its board of
directors had authorized the repurchase of up to 1,000,000 shares of Datastream's outstanding common stock. The
Company repurchased 169,500 shares of common stock at a cost of $508,620. The repurchased shares will be used
for general corporate purposes, including grants of employee stock options.

As of December 31, 2001, the Company had no material commitments for debt or capital expenditures. The
Company believes that its current cash balances, cash flow from operations and investments available for sale will
be sufficient to meet its working capital and capital expenditure needs for at least the next 12 months.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements.

In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 141, “Business Combinations”(SFAS 141), and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (SFAS 142). SFAS 141 requires that the purchase method of
accounting be used for all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001. SFAS 141 also specifies criteria that
intangible assets acquired in a purchase method business combination must meet to be recognized and reported apart
from goodwill. SFAS 142 will require that goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives no longer be
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amortized, but instead tested for impairment. The effective date of SFAS 142 was January 1, 2002. The Company
expects no material impact as a result of adopting SFAS 142.

In August 2001, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, “Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (SFAS 144). SFAS 144 retains the fundamental provisions of
Statement for Accounting Standards No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-
Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of” (SFAS 121), while resolving significant implementation issues associated with
SFAS 121. The effective date of SFAS 144 was January 1, 2002. The Company does not expect a material impact
as a result of adopting SFAS 144.

New European Currency

On January 1, 1999, eleven of the fifteen member countries of the European Union adopted the Euro as their
common legal currency (the “Euro Conversion”).

The Company has a significant number of customers located in European Union countries participating in the
Euro Conversion. Such customers will likely have to upgrade or modify their computer systems and software to
comply with Euro requirements. The amount of money the Company anticipates spending in connection with
product development related to the Euro Conversion is not expected to have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s results of operations or financial condition. The Euro Conversion may also have competitive
implications for the Company’s pricing and marketing strategies, which could be material in nature and negative in
impact; however, any such impact is not known at this time.

The Company has not encountered nor anticipates encountering significant costs for modifications of its
internal systems (such as payroll, accounting and financial reporting) to deal with the Euro Conversion. There is no
assurance, however, that all problems related to the Euro Conversion will be foreseen and corrected, or that no
material disruptions of the Company’s business will occur as a result of the Euro conversion.

Risk Factors

From time to time, we make oral and written statements that may constitute “forward looking statements”
(rather than historical facts) as defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 or by the Securities
and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) in its rules, regulations and releases, including Section 27A of the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”). We desire to take advantage of the “safe harbor” provisions in the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 for forward looking statements made from time to time, including, but not
limited to, the forward looking statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K (the “Annual Report™), as well
as those made in other filings with the SEC.

The following is a summary of certain risks and uncertainties identified by us in the conduct of our business
and is not meant to be exhaustive. These Risk Factors should also be read in conjunction with other cautionary
statements that we make in this Annual Report as well as other risks and uncertainties identified from time to time in
our other SEC reports, registrations statements and public announcements. See also “*Safe Harbor’ Statement under
the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995” at the beginning of this Annual Report.

The market for asset lifecycle management solutions continues to be highly competitive.

The current market for asset lifecycle management is highly competitive. We expect competition to intensify
as new companies enter the market and existing ones, including ERP companies, expand their product lines. Certain
competitors, including ERP companies, have greater financial, marketing, technical, service and support resources
than we do. In addition, many prospective customers have already made significant commitments to ERP
competitors, which could materially and adversely affect our ability to succeed in our market. Further, slowing U.S.
and world economies could result in a decrease in spending by corporations on information technology and
software. This could lead to even greater competition in our markets. We cannot assure you that we will be able to
successfully compete against current and future competitors, especially if customers or prospective customers
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decrease their level of spending on asset lifecycle management products in a slowing economy. If we fail to compete
successfully, our results of operations would be materially and adversely affected.

If we do not keep pace with rapid technological changes and demands in our markets, we will not remain
competitive.

Our business is characterized by rapidly changing technology, evolving industry standards, changes in
customer requirements and frequent new product introductions. Our future success depends greatly on our ability to
enhance certain of our existing products. Our success also depends on our ability to develop and introduce, on a
timely and cost-effective basis, new products and product features to meet our customers’ changing needs,
particularly involving Internet-based applications. Industry requirements for product development in the asset
lifecycle management market are still evolving. Our ability to successfully and efficiently develop products that
meet these evolving requirements will require high levels of innovation, as well as an accurate anticipation of
technological and market trends. We cannot assure you that we will be able to successfully identify, develop, and
market new products or product enhancements that comply with evolving industry requirements or achieve market
acceptance. If we do not successfully identify, develop, and market new products or product enhancements, it could
have a material and adverse effect on our results of operations.

Increasing sales cycles and other factors may result in volatility of our quarterly results.

Traditionally, a significant portion of our revenues in any quarter had been the result of a large number of
relatively small orders received during the period. We expect the average size of our license sales transactions,
however, to continue to increase in the coming years. An increase in average deal size typically increases the length
of an average sales cycle. Potential customers spend significant time and resources determining which software to
purchase. This requires us to spend substantial time, effort and money educating and convincing prospective
customers to purchase our software over our competitors’. A customer’s decision to license our software generally
involves evaluation by a number of the customer’s personnel in various functional and geographic areas. Due to
these and other factors, our sales cycle may be extended. Since the sales cycle can be unpredictable and can be
affected by events beyond our control, we cannot always forecast the timing or amount of specific sales, and sales
may vary from quarter to quarter. Further, the Company typically realizes a significant portion of its revenue from
sales of software licenses in the last month of a quarter, frequently even in the last days of a quarter. Failure to close
a small number of large software license contracts may have a significant impact on revenues for any quarter and
cculd, therefore, result in significant fluctuations in quarterly revenues and operating results.

In addition, the market for our asset management solutions has changed dramatically over the last several
years, and we expect that it will continue that trend as technology advances continue. As our average license sale
size has grown, we have shifted the primary focus of our sales and marketing efforts upon the enterprise-wide
deployment of our Datastream 7i solution. We expect to experience a decline in the large number of relatively small
orders that has been a staple of our marketing and sales efforts in the past. We have restructured our sales and
marketing organizations to facilitate this move to the higher-end transactional model. There can be no guarantee,
however, that we will ultimately be successful in making this transition. Also, the overall demand for enterprise
asset management software may grow more slowly than we anticipate (or even decrease) in upcoming quarters. We
have reported decreases in software license revenue in each of the last two years, as we make this transition to
predominately higher-end transactions (by 12.2% in 2001 compared to 2000 and 25.2% in 2000 compared to 1999).
This may be an indication of the extent of market penetration into the asset management software market, as well as
a retrenchment in the way companies purchase enterprise software. To the extent that a slow down in the market for
enterprise asset management software develops, it could have a materially adverse affect on our business, results of
operations and financial condition.

Other factors which could contribute to a fluctuation in our quarterly results include but are not limited to the
following:

changes in demand for our products and services and market acceptance of new products;
competitive conditions in the industry;

changes in pricing policies of the Company or its competitors;

changes in customer budgets;
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the introduction of new products or product enhancements by us and our competitors;
changes in our sales and marketing organization;

product life cycles and rotations;

technological changes in computer systems and environments;

variability in new licenses obtained;

loss of a customer;

changes in the proportion of revenues attributable to licensing fees versus services;
changes in the level of operating expenses;

delay or deferral of customer implementations of their software;

foreign currency exchange rates; and

other economic conditions generally or in our particular industry.
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Due to these factors, our operating results could fail to meet the expectations of securities analysts or investors.
If that happens, the price of our common stock could decline materially.

Our application service provider, or ASP, product strategy may reduce revenues and profits.

Our traditional business model charges an up-front license fee for access to our software applications. In
contrast, one of the offerings available through our ASP business model charges a significantly lower monthly fee
for rights to the same application for a defined term. Certain customers may choose a monthly revenue model as
opposed to an up-front license fee. As a result, this subscription model could significantly lower revenue and profits
in the near term. In addition, we cannot assure you that ASP customers will remain customers over a sustained
period of time. A successful ASP offering must be accessible to customers continually, without disruptions. We
cannot provide assurances that the technical infrastructure employed by ASP customers or prospective ASP
customers is sufficiently robust to prevent disruptions in Internet services beyond our control or that of our third
party hosting provider. Further, we cannot assure you that the infrastructure of the Internet, or the complementary
services necessary to provide these continual and expanding services will be adequate to meet our needs in
providing our ASP service on a competitive basis. Such connectivity and related issues could adversely affect the
growth and customer acceptance of our ASP business model.

Our iProcure preduct strategy may not generate revenue and profits.

Our iProcure product enables our customers to direct MRO procurement to a select group of MRO suppliers
via the Internet. The market for products comparable to iProcure is highly competitive and there can be no
assurances that we will successfully generate sufficient license and service revenue from this initiative. Also, we
charge MRO suppliers a transaction fee for each transaction executed through iProcure. There can be no assurances
that this transaction fee model will be profitable or sustainable. The market for Internet-based MRO procurement
has experienced considerable change over the past several years. We believe that the iProcure product and our fee
structure are positioned to gain acceptance on a predictable and scalable basis, but further changes in this market
could hinder or prevent that acceptance and push the market into one or more different directions.

The success of our iProcure initiative will also depend on:

° our ability to introduce and install the iProcure product effectively throughout our customer base;

° our ability to attract and retain high quality national and international MRO suppliers that cover
comprehensively our customers’ MRO procurement needs;

° our ability to successfully identify and resolve bottleneck issues in the MRO supply chain; and

° our ability to compete effectively with both traditional and Internet-based MRO procurement alternatives
now available or that may become available to our customers in the future.

If we are not successful in any of these areas, it could have a material adverse affect on our results of
operations.

Significant delays in preduct development would harm our reputation as an innovator and result in a
decrease in our revenues.
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If we experience significant product development delays, our position in the market would be harmed, and our
revenues could be substantially reduced, which would adversely affect our operating results. Historically, we have
issued significant new releases of our software products periodically, with minor interim releases issued more
frequently. As a result of the complexities inherent in our software, major new product enhancements and new
products often require long development and test periods before they are released. On occasion, we have
experienced delays in the scheduled release date of new or enhanced products, and we cannot assure you that these
delays will not occur in the future. Delays may occur for many reasons, including an inability to hire a sufficient
number of developers, discovery of bugs and errors, or a failure of our current or future products to conform to
industry requirements. Any such delay, or the failure of new products or enhancements in achieving market
acceptance, could materially impact our business and reputation and result in a decrease in our revenues.

Our success is substantially dependent on third party relationships.

A principal element of our strategy is to establish and maintain alliances with other companies, such as system
integrators, resellers, consultants, and spare parts suppliers. These relationships enhance our status in the
marketplace, which generates new business opportunities and marketing channels and, in certain cases, additional
revenue and profitability Our inability to establish and maintain alliances with other companies could impact our
success in the marketplace, which could materially and adversely impact our results of operations. In addition, as
we cannot control the actions of these third party alliances, if these companies suffer business downturns or fail to
meet their objectives, we may experience a resulting diminished revenue and decline in results of operations.

We also recently entered into an arrangement with GE Fanuc, an affiliate of GE Industrial Systems, for GE
Fanuc to offer our Datastream 7i and iProcure products as the exclusive asset management component of its
collaborative manufacturing solutions around the world. We believe that this agreement represents, in part, new
market opportunities and that companies such as GE are well positioned to service maintenance requirements as
turnkey third party providers. Because the agreement grants GE Fanuc exclusive rights to market and sell our
solutions to certain global industry segments, we may experience some fluctuation in revenue in those segments, as
GE Fanuc ramps up its marketing and selling efforts.

The success of iProcure is substantially dependent upon our strategic relationships with certain spare parts
suppliers and service providers who pay a transaction fee for orders placed through iProcure. We have more than
eighty strategic supplier agreements, none of which represent significant revenues. We view these strategic
relationships as a key factor in our overall business strategy. However, our third party suppliers and service
providers may not view their relationships with us as significant to their own business, and they may reassess their
commitment to, or decide to compete directly with us for our customers’ procurement in the future. Therefore, we
cannot assure you that any of these relationships will be successful in the long term. We also cannot assure you that
we will be able to establish new agreements, that these agreements can be renewed on commercially acceptable
terms or that any relationships, if established, will be commercially successful.

Our ASP business model depends heavily on hosting services provided by a third party. To be successful, the
hosted application must be accessible to customers continually, without any disruptions. If our third party service
provider fails to provide consistent access of the application to our customers, it would have a material adverse
effect on our business. We cannot assure you that there will not be disruptions in Internet services beyond our
control or that of our third party hosting provider. Further, we cannot assure you that the infrastructure of the
Internet, or the complementary services necessary to provide these continual and expanding services will be
adequate to meet our needs in providing our ASP service on a competitive basis.

Qur future success is substantially dependent on third party technologies.

We rely heavily on third parties that supply us with certain technology that is crucial to our success. In
particular, our line of Internet-based applications is highly dependent on Oracle technology, including Oracle
database technology and development tools. If such technology does not achieve continued market acceptance or if
Oracle were to develop application software that successfully competed with our application software, it could have
a material adverse effect on the acceptance of the Company’s products, and thus our results of operations.
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We also expect to increasingly depend on third party technology that facilitates the integration of our products
with other systems of our clients. This integration is crucial to our asset lifecycle management solution. We cannot
assure you that third parties will continue to develop new versions of products that successfully facilitate this
integration. We also cannot assure you that that the third party technology licenses we depend upon or suitable
alternatives will continue to be available to us on commercially reasonable terms, if at all. As we continue to
introduce new products that incorporate new technologies, we may license additional technology from additional
third parties. Any failure to obtain any of these technology upgrades or licenses could result in delays or reductions
in the introduction of new products, features or functions, which could materially and adversely impact our results of
operations.

Qur business could be substantially harmed if we have to correct or delay the release of products due to
software bugs or errors.

Cur software products may contain undetected errors or bugs when first introduced or as new versions are
released. Our software products may also contain undetected viruses. Further, software we license from third parties
and incorporate into our products may contain errors, bugs or viruses. Errors, bugs or viruses may cause a loss of or
delay in market acceptance, recalls of hardware products incorporating the software or loss of data. Any such defects
and errors could result in any of the following:

adverse customer reactions;

negative publicity regarding our business and our products;

harm to our reputation;

loss of or delay in market acceptance;

loss of revenue or required product changes;

diversion of development resources and increased development expenses;
increased service and warranty costs;

legal action by our customers; and

increased insurance costs.
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if we fail to manage cur international operations, our business could be adversely affected.

Our business, and our ability to maintain and expand our operations internationally, is subject to the risks
inherent in international business activities, including, in particular:

difficulty in staffing and managing an organization spread over various countries;

greater difficulty in safeguarding our intellectual property;

acceptance of localized versions or our products;

cultural differences in the conduct of business;

general economic and political conditions in each country (such as currently exist in Argentina);
fluctuating economic and political conditions affecting geographic regions (such as currently exist in the
Asia-Pacific markets);

foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations;

increased trade restrictions;

changes in tariff rates;

longer accounts receivable payment cycles in certain countries;

product compliance with local language and business customs;

unexpected changes in regulatory requirements; and

compliance with a variety of foreign laws and regulations.
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Any of the foregoing factors could have a material adverse effect on our ability to expand internationally, which
could materially and adversely affect our results of operations.

In the past, we acquired several international businesses. QOur inability to successfully grow these international
acquisitions has previously resulted in goodwill impairment, which has had a significant adverse affect on the results
of operations. In addition, as a result of these acquisitions, we are more deeply involved with international markets
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that are less familiar. We cannot assure you that we will successfully compete in these international markets. We
anticipate that our future results of operations may be subject to quarterly variations as a result, in part, of the
seasonal revenue fluctuations in Europe, Asia and Latin America, principally consisting of slower business
conditions in the first and third quarters of the year.

Further, we conduct virtually all of our business in US Dollars, European Euros, Dutch Guilders, French
Francs, German Marks, United Kingdom Pound Sterling, Singapore Dollars and Argentinean Pesos. Changes in the
value of these currencies relative to the dollar could negatively impact our financial condition.

Qur product strategy depends on the continued acceptance of the Internet for business transactions.

The development of the Internet as a medium for business transactions is still in a relatively formative stage.
As we continue to develop and market Internet-based products, our success will increasingly depend on the
continued use and development of the Internet as a tool for the transaction of business. We cannot assure you that
the infrastructure or complementary services necessary to maintain the Internet will be developed or maintained. If
the Internet fails as a medium for business transactions, it would have a material adverse affect on our results of
operations.

We must retain key employees and recruit qualified technical and sales persomnel in order to remain
successful.

Our continued success depends on the services of several of our key executive, sales and marketing and
technical employees. The loss of the services of these personnel, particularly those of Larry G. Blackwell, our
founder, Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President, or our inability to attract and retain other qualified
management, sales and marketing and technical employees, could have a material adverse effect on our business and
results of operations. We do not maintain any key-man life insurance policy with respect to Mr. Blackwell.

Our success also depends in part on our ability to attract, hire, train, retain and motivate qualified technical and
sales personnel, with appropriate levels of managerial and technical capabilities. Our business generally requires a
significant level of expertise to effectively develop and market our products and services. We have at times
experienced, and continue to experience, difficulty in recruiting qualified personnel. We believe that the pool of
potential applicants with such requisite expertise is limited. Recruiting qualified personnel is an intensely
competitive and time-consuming process. Such competition has resulted in demands for increased compensation
from qualified applicants. Due to such competition, we have experienced, and expect to continue to experience,
turnover in personnel, We cannot assure you that we will be successful in attracting and retaining the personnel
required to conduct and expand our operations successfully. Our business, financial condition and results of
operations could be materially and adversely affected if we were unable to attract, hire, train, retain and motivate
qualified personnel.

If we fail to adequately protect our proprietary rights, it could harm our competitive position and decrease
our revenues.

QOur success and ability to compete is dependent in part on our proprietary technology. We rely on a
combination of trade secret, copyright and trademark laws, software licenses, nondisclosure agreements and
technical measures to establish and protect our proprietary technology. We generally enter into confidentiality
and/or license agreements with our key employees, consultants, distributors and strategic affiliates as well as with
our customers and potential customers seeking proprietary information. We also limit access to and distribution of
our software, documentation and other proprietary information. We cannot assure you that the steps we have taken
in this regard, however, will be adequate to deter misappropriation or independent third party development of our
technology. Further, we cannot assure you that third parties will not assert infringement or misappropriation claims
against us in the future with respect to our current or future products. Any claims or litigation, with or without merit,
could be time consuming, result in costly litigation, diversion of management's attention and cause product shipment
delays or require us to enter into royalty or licensing arrangements. Such royalty or licensing arrangements, if
required, may not be available on terms acceptable to us, if at all, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations. Adverse determinations in such claims or litigation also could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Litigation to defend and
enforce our intellectual property rights could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and could have a
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material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations, regardless of the final outcome
of such litigation. We may be subject to additional risks as we enter into transactions in countries where intellectual
property laws are not well developed or are poorly enforced. Legal protections of our rights may be ineffective in
such countries, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

Security risks and concerns may deter the use of the Internet for conducting electronic commerce.

A significant barrier to electronic commerce and communications is the secure transmission of confidential
information over public networks. Advances in computer capabilities, new discoveries in the field of cryptography or
other events or developments could result in compromises or breaches of our security systems or those of other web
sites to protect proprietary information. If any well-publicized compromises of security were to occur, it could have the
effect of substantially reducing the use of the Internet for commerce and communications. Anyone who circumvents
our security measures could misappropriate proprietary information or cause interruptions in our services or operations.
The Internet is a public network, and data is sent over this network from many sources. In the past, computer viruses,
software programs that disable or impair computers, have been distributed and have rapidly spread over the Internet.
Computer viruses could be introduced into our systems or those of our customers or suppliers, which could disrupt
iProcure or make it inaccessible to customers or suppliers. We may be required to expend significant capital and other
resources to protect against the threat of security breaches or to alleviate problems caused by breaches. To the extent
that our activities may involve the storage and transmission of proprietary information, such as credit card numbers,
security breaches could expose us to a risk of loss or litigation and possible liability. Our security measures may be
inadequate to prevent security breaches, and our business would be harmed if we do not prevent them.

Our stock price has fluctuated substantially since our initial public offering and may continue to do so.

The market price of our Common Stock has fluctuated substantially since our initial public offering in April
1995. The Common Stock is quoted on the Nasdaq National Market, which has experienced and is likely to
experience significant price and volume fluctuations, which could adversely affect the market price of the Common
Stock without regard to our operating performance. In addition, we believe that factors such as quarterly fluctuations
in our financial results, the overall economy and the condition of the financial markets could cause the price of our
Common Stock to fluctuate substantially.

We may face certain risks in connection with the conversion to the Euro.

On January 1, 1999, eleven of the fifteen member countries of the European Union adopted the Euro as their
common legal currency. The Company has a significant number of customers located in European Union countries
participating in the conversion to the Euro. Such customers will likely have to upgrade or modify their computer
systems and software to comply with Euro requirements. The Euro conversion may also have competitive
implications for our pricing and marketing strategies, which could be material in nature.

Although we do not currently expect the cost of product development and modifications necessitated by the
Euro conversion to have a material effect on our results of operations or financial condition, we cannot assure you
that we will be able to foresee and correct all potential problems related to the Euro conversion, or that we will not
experience a material disruption in our business due to the conversion to the Euro.

QOur articles of incorporation and bylaws and Delaware corporate law may inhibit a takeover, which may not
be in the interests of stockholders.

There are several provisions in our articles of incorporation and bylaws and Delaware corporate law that may
inhibit a takeover, even when a takeover may be in the interests of our stockholders. For example, our board of
directors is empowered to issue preferred stock without shareholder action. The existence of this "blank-check"
preferred stock could render more difficult or discourage an attempt to obtain control of the Company by means of a
tender offer, merger, proxy contest or otherwise. Our articles of incorporation also divide the board of directors into
three classes, as nearly equal in size as possible, with staggered three-year terms. The classification of the board of
directors could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire control of the Company because only one-third of
the board is up for election each year. We are also subject to provisions of the Delaware General Corporate Law
that relate to business combinations with interested shareholders, which can serve to inhibit a takeover.
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item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

The principal market risk to which the Company is exposed that may adversely impact results of operations
and financial position is fluctuations in foreign exchange rates.

Fluctuations in Foreign Exchange Rates. In 2001, revenue generated outside the United States accounted for
approximately 38% of total revenue. Significant revenues (i.e., greater than 5% of total revenues) were derived in
France, The Netherlands and Argentina, with the balance derived primarily from the eight remaining countries
(Brazil, Chile, China, Germany, Japan, Mexico, Singapore and the United Kingdom) in which the Company
maintains subsidiary or branch operations. Many of the Company’s foreign sales were denominated in the
currencies of the local country. As such, the Company’s reported profits and cash flows are exposed to changing
exchange rates or weak economic conditions. Historically, exchange rate exposure has been minimal; however,
management is evaluating alternatives to reduce the risk associated with fluctuations in the value of the US dollar in
the foreign exchange markets.

The currencies in which the Company generates foreign denominated sales are geographically widespread and
individually represent relatively low dollar exposure. Local currency revenues generated by the Company’s foreign
subsidiaries are used to pay local currency expenses. At any point in time, the Company’s foreign operations hold
financial assets and liabilities that are denominated in the local currency. These financial assets and liabilities
consist primarily of short-term, third party and intercompany receivables and payables. At December 31, 2001, cash
denominated in foreign currencies was $6.9 million.

At the beginning of 2002, the Argentine Government devalued the Argentine peso by approximately 30%,
ending the parity to the US dollar. The Company is in the process of evaluating the potential impact such
devaluation may have on its results of operations and determine a course of action to minimize future foreign
currency exchange rate risk in Argentina.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

The financial statements required by this item are filed as part of this Annual Report on pages F-1 through F-23
immediately preceding the signature page to this Annual Report. The supplementary financial information required
by this item are filed as part of this Annual Report under the section titled “Quarterly Results” in “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and on pages S-1 through S-2
immediately preceding the signature page to this Annual Report.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountzants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.
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PART III
Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

The executive officers and directors of the Company and their ages as of March 15, 2002, are as follows:

Name Age Position
Larry G. Blackwell ... 61 Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer
Ralph T. Carter .....ccccoevmvcneccinns 39 Chief Operating Officer
C. Alex Estevez .....ccccovcevvnvviinincn 31 Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Secretary
W. Scott Millwood ..o 38 Executive Vice President
John M. Sterling, Il.......c.cccoevevvnnnnn. 40 Executive Vice President
Richard T. Brock™® ... 54  Director
IraD. Cohen®......ovvvooeioee. 50 Director
John M. Sterling, Jr. V.......ccoooriririnnnnn. 64 Director
James R. Talton, Jr."? ..o, 59 Director

" Member of 2001 and 2002 Compensation Committee.
@ Member of 2001 and 2002 Audit Committee.

Director Nominees Biographical Information

Set forth below is certain biographical information furnished to the Company by its directors, inctuding Larry G.
Blackwell and John M. Sterling, Jr., the director nominees for the Company’s Class III directorships. Messrs. Blackwell
and Sterling currently serve as direcfors of the Company.’

LARRY G. BLACKWELL
Age: 61
Class Il Director - Term Expires 2002

Dr. Blackwell, the founder of the Company, has served as Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and
President of the Company from its inception in 1986. Prior to founding the Company, he was Precident of the
Datastream Systems Division of a subsidiary of Wisconsin Power & Light. He also co-founded and formerly served as
Chairman of the Board of EDI Techrology Companies, an environmental process engineering consulting company. Dr.
Blackwell holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Engineering from the University of Mississippi, a Master of Science
degree from the Georgia Institute of Technology and a Ph.D. in Environmental Systems Engineering from Clemson
University. Dr. Blackwell is a registered Professional Engineer in lllinois, Pennsylvania and South Carolina and was
named /nc. magazine's 1994 "Entreprencur of the Year" in the Master Entrepreneur category for the State of South
Carolina. Dr. Blackwell is the father-in-law of W. Scott Millwood, an executive officer of the Company.

JOHN M. STERLING, JR.
Age: 64
Class III Director - Term Expires 2002

Mr. Sterling has served as a director of the Company since February 1986. He has also served as the Chairman of
the Board of Directors of HomeGold Financial, Inc. {(formerly Emergent Group, Inc.) since December 1990. He served
as President of HomeGold from December 1990 to August 1996 and as its Chief Executive Officer from December 1990
until May 2000. Mr. Sterling also served as President of Palmetto Seed Capital Corp. from September 1993 to October
1998 and served as a General Partner of Reedy River Ventures Limited Partnership from 1981 until August 1995.
Reedy River provided venture capital financing to the Company to fund its early development, and Mr. Sterling
originally served on the Board of Directors of the Company pursuant to that relationship. Mr. Sterling is the father of
John M. Sterling, III, an executive officer of the Company. Mr. Sterling holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Civil
Engineering from The Citadel and a Masters in Business Administration from The Darden Graduate School of Business,
University of Virginia.
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Biographical Information Concerning Other Directors

RICHARD T. BROCK
Age: 54
Class II Director - Term Expires 2004

Mr. Brock has served as a director of the Company since August 1993. In 1984, Mr. Brock founded the
predecessor of Firstwave Technologies, Inc., a publicly-held provider of sales and marketing automation software, for
which he has served in various capacities, including Chief Executive Officer and President, since 1984. He currently
serves as President and Chief Executive Officer and as a director of Firstwave Technologies. He is also the founding
partner of Brock Capital Partners, a privately-held venture capital fund. He also founded and formerly served as Chief
Executive Officer of Management Control Systems, Inc. Mr. Brock is a nationally-recogmzed developer, author and
speaker on sales, marketing and service automation and business development strategy. Mr. Brock received a Bachelor
of Science degree in Accounting from Spring Hill College and a Masters in Business Administration from Louisiana
State University. He is also a certified public accountant.

IRA D. COHEN
Age: 50
Class II Director - Term Expires 2004

Mr. Cohen has been a director of the Company since February 1995. Since 1988, Mr. Cohen has served as a
Managing Director of Updata Capital, Inc., an investment banking firm he co-founded which focuses on mergers and
acquisitions in the information technology industry. Mr. Cohen also co-founded Updata Software, Inc., and from 1986 to
1988 served as that company's Chief Financial Officer. In addition, Mr. Cohen is a Principal with two related venture
funds: Fallen Angel Equity and Updata Venture Fund. Mr. Cohen is also a director of Alphanet Solutions, Inc. and
several privately held companies. He holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Accounting from City University of New
York, Herbert H. Lehman College, and he is a registered certified public accountant in New York and New Jersey.

JAMES R. TALTON, JR.
Age: 59
Class I Director- Term expires 2003

Mr. Talton has served as a director of the Company since March 2001. He currently serves as Chairman of the
Buoard of Directors for Impact Design Build, Inc., a real estate development company, and has served in that capacity
since January 2000. From July 1999 to January 2000, Mr. Talton served as a Vice President for Impact. From July 1986
until July 1999, Mr. Talton served as the Managing Partner of KPMG LLP’s Raleigh, North Carolina office. KPMG
LLP is an international accounting and consulting firm. From October 1979 until June 1986, he served as Managing
Partner of KPMG’s Greenville, South Carolina office. Mr. Talton received a Bachelor of Science degree in Accounting
from East Carolina University.

Additienal Information Concerning the Board Of Directors

On March 16, 2001, the Board of Directors increased the number of the Company’s directors from five (5) to six
(6), which created a vacancy in Class I of the Company’s three classes of directors. On the same date, the Board of
Directors appointed Mr. James R. Talton, Jr. to fill the vacancy on the Board of Directors. Later in 2001, Mr. Kenneth
Tracy, a Class [ director, passed away, leaving a vacancy in this class.

The Company's Board of Directors held 10 meetings during fiscal 2001. During fiscal 2001, the Board maintained
two standing committees, an Audit Committee and a Compensation Committee, but did not have a Nominating
Committee. No director attended less than 75% of the aggregate number of meetings of the Board and the committees of
the Board on which he served that were held during fiscal 2001.

Committees of the Board of Directors. The Audit Committee reviews and makes recommendations regarding the
Company's employment of independent auditors, the annual audit of the Company's financial statements and the
Company's internal accounting practices and policies. In fiscal 2001, the Audit Committee consisted of Messrs. Brock,
Cohen (Chairman) and Talton. In fiscal 2001, the Audit Committee held 4 meetings. For fiscal 2002, the Audit
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Committee again consists of Messrs. Brock, Cohen (Chairman) and Talton. The Audit Committee operates under a
written charter initially adopted by the Board of Directors on June 9, 2000 and amended and restated on March 16, 2001
and March 15, 2002, All members of the Company’s Audit Committee in 2001and 2002 were and are “independent,” as
defined in Rule 4200(a)(15) of the National Association of Securities Dealer’s listing standards.

The Compensation Committee makes recommendations to the Board of Directors regarding compensation
arrangements for senior management of the Company (including annual bonus compensation), recommendations
concerning the adoption of any compensation plans in which management is eligible to participate and grants of stock
options or other benefits under such plans. In fiscal 2001, the Compensation Committee consisted of Messrs. Brock
(Chairman), Sterling (Jr.) and Talton. The Compensation Committee held one meeting in fiscal 2001. For fiscal 2002,
the Compensation Committee again consists of Messrs. Brock (Chairman), Sterling (Jr.) and Talton.

Compensation of Directors. In fiscal 2001, non-management directors received an annual retainer of $7,000 and
were reimbursed for expenses incurred in connection with attendance at meetings of the Board of Directors or
committees thereof. The Company has also adopted a Stock Option Plan for Directors, which provides for a grant of an
option to purchase 9,000 shares of Common Stock to non-management directors when they join the board and then an
annual grant of options to purchase 2,000 shares of Common Stock to such directors thereafter.

Executive Officers

The executive officers of the Company serve at the discretion of the Board of Directors and presently include Dr.
Blackwell, Ralph T. Carter, C. Alex Estevez, W. Scott Millwood, and John M. Sterling, IIl. See “Director Notninees
Biographical Information” for information about Dr. Blackwell.

RALPH T. CARTER
Chief Operating Officer
Age: 39

Mr. Carter joined the Company as its Chief Operating Officer in August 2000. Prior to joining the Company,
Mr. Carter served as Vice President-North American Sales for Honeywell International from October 1999 until
July 2000. From August 1998 until October 1999 he served as Vice President-Americas Field Operations for
Honeywell-Measurex and from December 1997 until August 1998 he served as its Director-North American Field
Operations. From 1994 to 1997, Mr. Carter served as Regional Manager-Northeast for Measurex Corporation. Mr.
Carter holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Chemical Engineering from the University of Maine.

C.ALEX ESTEVEZ
Chief Financial Officer
Age: 31

Mr. Estevez was named Chief Financial Officer of the Company in April 1999. Prior to that time, he served as
the Company’s Vice President of Corporate Development from June 1998 until April 1999 and as the Director of
Planning from June 1997 to June 1998. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Estevez worked in the investment
banking technology group at Raymond James & Associates from September 1992 through June 1995, where he
focused on technology-based mergers and acquisitions and equity offerings, including the Company’s initial public
offering. From June to August 1996, he was an associate with Deloitte & Touche LLP. Mr. Estevez holds an A.B.
degree from Harvard College and attended the J.L. Kellogg Graduate School of Management, Northwestern
University from September 1995 through May 1997, where he received a Masters of Management (M.B.A.) in
Finance and Strategy.
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W.SCOTT MILLWOOD
Executive Vice President, Corporate Development
Age: 38

Mr. Millwood has served as Executive Vice President, Corporate Development since January of 2001. Prior to
that time, Mr. Millwood served as the Company’s Vice President, Sales and Marketing from February 2000 to
January 2001 and as Vice President of Operations from October of 1998 to January 2000. Prior to becoming Vice
President of Operations, Mr. Millwood served as the Company’s Vice President of Corporate Sales from August
1995 to October 1998. Prior to joining the Company in 1995, Mr. Millwood served as regional manager for
PowerCerv Corporation, a manufacturing ERP company and as a vertical market manager for Peregrine Systems,
Inc. (formerly Harbinger Corporation.) Mr. Millwood holds a Bachelor of Science in Economics from Clemson
University and a Masters in Business Administration from Georgia State University. Mr. Millwood is the son-in-
law of Larry G. Blackwell, Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company.

JOHN M. STERLING, III
Executive Vice President, Telesales
Age: 40

Mr. Sterling has served as Executive Vice President, Telesales since October 2000. Prior to that time, he led the
Company’s electronic commerce initiatives from February 1999 until October 2000. Before being named Vice President
of Electronic Commerce, Mr. Sterling served as the Company’s Vice President of International Operations from
September 1997 to January 1999, overseeing the Company’s intemnational operations. Prior to holding such position,
Mr. Sterling served as the Company’s Managing Director of European Operations from February through August 1997.
Mr. Sterling also served as the Company's Vice President of Sales from 1986 to January 1997. Prior to joining
Datastream, Mr. Sterling was a Regional Sales Manager for Silicon Valley Products in San Mateo, California. Mr.
Sterling holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Political Science from The Citadel. Mr. Sterling is the son of John M.
Sterling, Jr., one of the Company's directors.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires the Company's directors, executive officers and persons who own
beneficially more than 10% of the Company's Common Stock to file reports of ownership and changes in ownership of
such stock with the SEC and the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. Directors, executive officers and
greater than 10% stockholders are required by SEC regulations to furnish the Company with copies of all such forms
they file. To the Company's knowledge, other than as described below, based solely on a review of the copies of such
reports furnished to the Company and written representations that no other reports were required, its directors, executive
officers and greater than 10% stockholders complied during fiscal 2001 with all applicable Section 16(a) filing
requirements. Mr. Millwood, his wife and his minor son received bona fide gifts of Common Stock on two occasions in
1999 and 2001, which have not previously been reported. Mr. Millwood is in the process of preparing a Form 5 that will
reflect each of these gifts.
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ftem 11. Executive Compensation
Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

The members of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors in 2001 were Messrs. Brock,
Sterling (Jr.), and Talton. In 2002, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors again consists of Messrs.
Brock, Sterling (Jr.), and Talton. During fiscal 2001, the Compensation Committee did not include any member of
the Board of Directors who at that time served as an officer or employee of, or a consultant to, the Company. The
Company's Chief Executive Officer, Dr. Blackwell, is not a member of the Compensation Committee, but typically
participates in its deliberations by making recommendations to the Compensation Committee concerning the
performance of the Company's executive officers and recommendations concerning proposed adjustments to their
compensation,

Executive Compensation Tables
Table I - Summary Compensation Table
The following table presents certain information required by the SEC relating to various forms of
compensation awarded to, earned by or paid to the Company's (i) Chief Executive Officer, (i) Chief Operating

Officer, (iii) Chief Financial Officer, (iv) Executive Vice President, Corporate Development and (v) Executive Vice
President, Telesales during fiscal 2001 (the “Named Executive Officers”).

Long-Term
Annual Compensation __Compensation
Securities
Underlying
Other Annual Optiens (# of All Other

Name and Principal Position(s)  Years Salary Bonus Compensation Shares) Compensation

Larry G. Blackwell 2001 $234,283" $25,000 — 50,000 $4,463%
Chairman, President and 2000  $221,616'" $17,000 — 20,000 $5,250
Chief Executive Officer 1999  $233,280" $6,000 - 30,000 $5,000%

Ralph T. Carter 2001 $170,004% $25,000 — 50,000 —
Chief Operating Officer 2000 $71,489% $50,000 $56,696' 130,000 —

1999 — — - - —

C. Alex Estevez 2001 $143,100° $25,000 — 50,000 $3,044%
Chief Financial Officer 2000  $126,5739 $14,000 — 45,000 $2,151%
and Corporate Secretary 1999 $99,996" $3,000 - 30,000 $2,090”

W. Scott Millwood 2001  $154,800® $56,675 — 50,000 $2,853®
Executive Vice President, 2000  $144,729'¢ — — 115,000 $2,523@
Corporate Development 1999  $126,329'9 $3,000 - 30,000 $2,381%

John M. Sterling, III 2001 $175,000 $18,437 — 50,000 $1,732%
Executive Vice President, 2000  $160,6237 $14,000 — 40,000 $3,944
Telesales 1999  $135,0007 — — 30,000 $3,750

M Includes $8,925 in 2001 (2000: $10,500; 1999: $10,000) deferred at the election of Dr. Blackwell pursuant to
the Company's 401(k) plan. .

Reflects matching contributions to the Company's 401(k) plan paid by the Company on behalf of the executive
officer.

2
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M

Includes $10,500 in 2001 (2000: $2,008) deferred at the election of Mr. Carter pursuant to the Company’s
401(k) plan. Mr. Carter joined the Company on July 30, 2000. His annualized salary for 2000 would have been
$170,004. .

Represents reimbursement by Company for moving expenses incurred in 2000; reimbursement paid in January
2001.

Includes $10,500 in 2001 (2000: $10,500; 1999: $10,000) deferred at the election of Mr Estevez pursuant to the
Company’s 401(k) plan.

Includes $10,500 in 2001 (2000: $10,500; 1999: $10,000) deferred at the election of Mr. Millwood pursuant to
the Company’s 401(k) plan.

Includes $4,620 in 2001 (2000: $10,500; 1999: $10,000) deferred at the election of Mr. Sterling pursuant to the
Company's 401(k) plan.
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TABLE II - Option/SAR Grants in Fiscal 2001

This table presents information regarding options granted to the Company’s Named Executive Officers during

fiscal 2001 to purchase shares of the Company’s Common Stock. The Company has no outstanding stock
appreciation rights (SARs) and granted no SARs during fiscal 2001. In accordance with SEC rules, the table shows
the hypothetical gains or option spreads that would exist for the respective options based on assumed rates of annual
compound stock price growth of 5% and 10% from the date the options were granted over the full option term.

Individual Grants
% of Total

Number of Options Potential Realizable
Securities Granted to Value at Assumed
Underlying Employees Exercise or Annual Rates of Stock
Options in Fiscal Base Price Expiration Price Appreciation
Name Granted (#) Year (3/Share) Date For the Option Term'
5% 10%
Dr. Blackwell......... 16,6672 $2.80 10/23/11 $29,349 $74,376
33.333? $3.08 10/23/06 $16.453  $47.647
50,000 6.12% $45,802 $122,023
Mr. Carter .............. 16,671 $2.80 10/23/11
33.329% $2.80 10/23/11
50.000 6.129 $88,045 $223.124
Mr. Estevez............ 33,332 $2.80 10/23/11
16,6687 $2.80 10/23/11
50,000 6.12% $88,045 $223.124
Mr. Millwood......... 33,331® $2.80 10/23/11
16,669 $2.80 10,23/11
50,000 6.12% $88.045 $223,124
Mr. Sterling............. 16,668 $2.80 10/23/11
33,3320 $2.80 10/23/11
50,000 6.12% $88.045 $223,124

M

)

)

)

(&)

(6)

)]

®

%)

Potential realizable value is based on the assumption that the price of the Common Stock appreciates at the rate
shown {compounded annually) from the date of grant to the expiration date. These numbers are presented in
accordance with the requirements of the SEC and do not reflect the Company’s estimate of future stock price
performance. )

Option vests on October 23, 2002.

16,666 shares of such option vest on October 23, 2003 and 16,667 shares vest on October 23, 2004.

2 shares of such option vest on October 23, 2002, 2 shares on October 23, 2003, and 16,667 shares vest on
October 23, 2004.

16,665 shares of such option vest on October 23, 2002, and 16,664 shares vest on October 23, 2003.
16,667 shares of such option vests on October 23, 2002 and 16,665 shares vest on October 23, 2003.
1 share of such option vests on October 23, 2003, and 16,667 shares vest on October 23, 2004.
16,667 shares of such option vest on October 23, 2002, and 16,664 shares vest on October 23, 2003.
2 shares of such option vest on October 23, 2003, and 16,667 shares vest on October 23, 2004.

U9 1 share of such option vests on October 23, 2003, and 16,667 shares vest on October 23, 2004.
4D 16,667 shares of such option vest on October 23, 2002, and 16,665 shares vest on October 23, 2003.
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TABLE III - Option Exercises in Fiscal 2001
and Fiscal 2001 Year-End Option Values

The following table shows the number of options exercised during fiscal 2001 and the number of shares of
Common Stock subject to exercisable and unexercisable stock options held by the Company’s Named Executive
Officers as of December 31, 2001. The table also reflects the values of such options based on the positive spread
between the exercise price of such options and $6.17 which was the closing sales price of a share of Common Stock
reported on the Nasdaq National Market as of December 31, 2001 (the last trading day of the Company’s fiscal

year).

Number of Securities Value of Unexercised
Shares Underlying Unexercised In-the-Money Options
Acquired Options at Year-End (#) at Year-End”
on Value
Name Exercise (#) Realized  Exercisable Unexercisable Exercisable Unexercisable
Dr. Blackwell — — 92,243 73,333 $0 $15%,167
Mr, Carter — — 43,334 136,666 $0 $168,500
Mr. Estevez — — 105,601 89,999 $0 $168,500
Mr. Millwood — — 137,834 136,666 $0 $168,500
Mr. Sterling — — 190,766 86,666 $193,600 $168,500

¢y The value of unexercised in-the-money options at December 31, 2000 is calculated as follows: [(Per Share
Closing Sales Price on December 31, 2001) - (Per Share Exercise Price)] X Number of Shares Subject to
Unexercised Options. The closing sales price reported by the Nasdaq National Market of the Company’s
Common Stock for December 31, 2001 was $6.17 per share.
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Item 12.Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management
Beneficial Ownership of Common Stock

The following table sets forth information concerning (i} those persons known by management of the
Company to own beneficially more than 5% of the Company’s outstanding Common Stock, (ii) the directors of the
Company, (ii1) the executive officers of the Company named in the Summary Compensation Table included
elsewhere herein and (iv) all directors and executive officers of the Company as a group. Such information is
provided as of March 15, 2002. The number of shares of Common Stock outstanding as of March 15, 2002 was
20,136,472. According to rules adopted by the SEC, a person is the “beneficial owner” of securities if he or she has
or shares the power to vote them or to direct their investment or has the right to acquire beneficial ownership cf such
securities within 60 days through the exercise of an option, warrant or right, the conversion of a security or
otherwise. Except as otherwise noted, the indicated owners have sole voting and investment power with respect to
shares beneficially owned. An asterisk in the percent of class column indicates beneficial ownership of less than 1%
of the outstanding Common Stock.

Amount and Nature Percent
Name of Beneficial Owner of Beneficial Ownersgh_ip_ of Class
Larry G. Blackwell.....cc.cocooovvonniriecnen, 3,584,287 17.7%
Ralph T. CarteT........co.coeoonvrrnreeciriens 43,904 *
C. AleX BSEVEZ oo e 105,942 *
W. Scott Millwood........cccocvverinrierneennn. 160,550 *
John M. Sterling, IIT.......cocoovivervrierrnnnn. 570,669 2.8%
Richard T. BrocK........cccooovvervs ceverivnnerinn 24,000 *
Ira D. COREM. ..vooveeeeceeieernrene e, 11,000 *
John M. Sterling, Jr. ..cccoocovvivrveeieciins 149,072® *
James R. Talton, JT...c..cccooovrirerceeene, 9,915® *
All current directors and
executive officers
as a group (9 persons) .........ccccceeerivevirnnene 4,659,3391'" 22.4%
Other Stockholders
Brown Capital Management, Inc.""......... 3.734,800'" 18.5%
Eagle Asset Management, Inc.'?........... .. 1,315,145 6.5%
Lord, Abbett & Co.""™ ...ooovirier 2,101,4134¥ 10.4%

Includes 92,243 shares of Common Stock subject to options exercisable on or within 60 days after March 15,
2002. Dr. Blackwell’s address is that of the Company.

Includes 43,334 shares of Common Stock subject to options exercisable on or within 60 days after March 15,
2002.

Includes 105,601 shares of Common Stock subject to options exercisable on or within 60 days after March 15,
2002.

Includes 137,834 shares of Common Stock subject to options exercisable on or within 60 days after March 15,
2002, 10,200 shares held in joint ownership with his spouse, 5,056 shares held by his wife individually and
5,480 shares held by his minor son. Mr. Millwood disclaims beneficial ownership of the securities held by his
spouse individually and held by his son.

Includes 190,766 shares of Common Stock subject to options exercisable on or within 60 days after March 15,
2002.

Includes 20,000 shares of Common Stock subject to options exercisable on or within 60 days after March 135,
2002.

Represents 11,000 shares of Common Stock subject to options exercisable on or within 60 days after March 15,
2002.

Represents 20,000 shares of Common Stock subject to options exercisable on or within 60 days after March 15,
2002 and 129,072 shares of Common Stock held by Mr. Sterling’s spouse.

Includes 9,000 shares of Common Stock subject to options exercisable on or within 60 days after March 15,

)

(2)

3)

(4)

(5

©)

)

(8

%)
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(10)

an

(12

(13)

2002, and 300 shares held individually by his spouse, of which Mr. Talton disclaims beneficial ownership.
Includes 629,778 shares of Common Stock subject to options exercisable on or within 60 days after March 15,
2002.

The business address of Brown Capital Management, Inc. is 1201 N. Calvert Street, Baltimore, Maryland
21202. The number of shares reported was derived from a Schedule 13G executed by Brown Capital
Management on January 30, 2002 and filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 5, 2002.
According to the Schedule 13G, all of the shares of the Common Stock are owned by various investment
advisory clients of Brown Capital Management, Inc. Brown Capital Management reports that it has sole voting
power over 3,194,300 shares and sole dispositive power over 3,734,800 shares. According to its Schedule 13G,
no individual client of Brown Capital Management holds more than five percent of the class.

The business address of Eagle Asset Management, Inc. is 880 Carillon Parkway, St. Petersburg, Florida 33716.
The number of shares reported was derived from a Schedule 13G executed by Eagle Asset Management on
January 10, 2002 and filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 4, 2002.

The business address of Lord, Abbett & Co. is 90 Hudson Street, Jersey City, New Jersey 07302. The number
of shares reported was derived from a Schedule 13G executed by Lord, Abbett & Co. on January 16, 2002 and
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 28, 2002.

Item 13.Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.

None.
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PART IV
Item 14. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and Reports on Form 8-K.
(2) The following documents are filed as part of this Report:
1. Financial Statements
o Independent Auditors' Report.
o Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2000 and 2001.
o Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001.
o Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity and Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the Years
Ended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001.
o Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001.
o Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
2. Financizl Statement Schedules:
o Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Receivable.
All other schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the Securities
and Exchange Commission are not required under the related instructions or are inapplicable and

therefore have been omitted.

3. Exhibits:

Exhibit

Number Description

31* Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.

3. 1(a)** Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of incorporation, dated January 12, 1998.

3.1(b) Certificate of Designation, Preferences and Rights of Series A Junior Participating Preferred
Stock of Datastream Systems, Inc., dated December 11, 2001.

3.2% Bylaws.

3.2(a)*** Amendment to Bylaws, dated March 22, 2001.

4.1 See Exhibits 3.1 and 3.2 for provisions of the Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation and By-Laws of the Company defining rights of holders of Common Stock of
the Company.

4.2% Specimen Stock Certificate.

4 3Hmnn Stockholder Protection Rights Agreement, dated December 10, 2001, between Datastream
Systems, Inc. and First Union National Bank, as Rights Agent.

10.1+ The Datastream Systems, Inc. 1995 Stock Option Plan (as amended and restated through
May 7, 1997).1"

10.1(a)** First Amendment to the Datastream Systems, Inc. 1995 Stock Option Plan (as amended and
restated through May 7, 1997), dated March 14, 1998."

10.1(b)++ Second Amendment to the Datastream Systems, Inc. 1995 Stock Option Plan (as amended

1
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and restated through May 7, 1997), dated May 8, 1998.""

10.1(c)++ Third Amendment to the Datastream Systems, Inc. 1995 Stock Option Plan (as amended
and restated May 7, 1997), dated March 12, 1999."

10.2+++ The Datastream Systems, Inc. Stock Option Plan for Directors (as amended and restated as
of April 12, 1996).V

10.2(a)** First Amendment to Datastreamn Systems, Inc. Stock Option Plan for Directors (as amended
and restated as of April 12, 1996), dated March 13, 1998.1"

10.2(b)++ Second Amendment to the Datastream Systems, Inc. Stock Option Plan for Directors (as
amended and restated as of April 12, 1996), dated March 12, 1999.

10.3++++ The Datastream Systems, Inc. 1998 Stock Option Plan."

10.3(a)++ First Amendment to the Datastream Systems, Inc. 1998 Stock Option Plan, dated March 12,
1999V

21 Subsidiaries of the Company.

23 Consent of KPMG LLP.

24 Power of Attorney (included on signature page heteto).

Incorporated herein by reference to exhibit of the same number in the from S-1 Registration Statement of the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 33-89498).

Incorporated herein by reference to exhibit of the same number in Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1997 (File No. 000-25590)

Incorporated by reference herein to exhibit of the same number in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-
K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000 (File No. 000-25590).

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99.1 in the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
December 12, 2001.

Incorporated herein by reference to Appendix A to the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for the
Company’s 1997 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, filed May 12, 1997 (File No. 000-25590).

Incorporated herein by reference to exhibit of the same number in Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1998 (File No. 000-25590)

Incorporated herein by reference to Appendix C to the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for the
Company’s 1996 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, filed April 23, 1996 (File No. 000-25590).

Incorporated herein by reference to Appendix A to the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for the
Company’s 1998 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, filed May 12, 1998 (File No. 000-25590)

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit to this Form 10-
K pursuant to Item 14(c) of this report.

Reports on Form 8-K.

The Company filed a Current Report on Form 8-K on December 12, 2001 to announce the adoption of its
Stockholder Protection Rights Agreement.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

The Board of Directors
Datastream Systems, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Datastream Systems, Inc. and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2000 and 2001, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, stockholders' equity and comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for each of the
years in the three-year period ended December 31, 200i. These consolidated financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reascnable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consclidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of Datastream Systems, Inc. and subsidiaries, as of
December 31, 2000 and 2001, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of
the years in the three-year pericd ended December 31, 2001, in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Greenville, South Carolina
February 8, 2002
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DATASTREAM SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2000 and 2001

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts
01 $3,183,453 and $1,868,072 in 2000 and 2001, respectively
Unbilled revenue, net of allowance of $156,000 and $320,000
in 2000 and 2001, respectively
Income taxes receivable
Prepaid expenses
Inventories
Deferred income taxes
Investments
Other assets
Total current assets

Investments

Property and equipment, net

Deferred income taxes

Goodwill, net of accumulated amortization of $9,213,126 in 2000

Other intangible asset, net of accumulated amortization of
$206,250 and $481,250 in 2000 and 2001, respectively

Total assets

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity

Current habilities:
Accounts payable
Other accrued liabilities
Unearned revenue
Current portion of long-term debt
Total current liabilities

Long-term debt, less current portion
Total liabilities
Stockholders' equity:
Preferred stock, $1 par value, 1,000,000 shares authorized; none issued
Common stock, $.01 par value, 40,000,000 shares authorized,;
20,730,644 and 21,000,668 shares issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2000 and 2001, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Other accumulated comprehensive loss
Treasury stock, 405,000 and 859,000 shares at
December 31, 2000 and 2001, respectively
Total stockholders’ equity

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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2000 2001
15,487,515 25,396,939
22,939,649 17,483,350

2,065,745 2,675,670
9,504,889 1,098,919
1,615,325 1,270,568
125,059 17,765
1,933,000 981,488
160 160
1,358,525 1,728,135
55,029,867 50,652,994
2,000,000 2,000,000
14,125,640 12,031,550
1,732,000 6,664,009
12,051,577 —

343,750 68,750

85,282,834 71,417,303
3,464,121 2,432,947
10,824,994 8,019,997
10,174,327 12,330,840

213,642 9,995

24,677,084 22,793,779
8,116 —

24,685,200 22,793,779 _

207,306 210,006
80,985,427 86,501,216
(16,083,208) (30,602,457)
(459,128) (1,303,570)
(4,052,763) (6,181,671)
60,597,634 48,623,524

$ 85,282,834 71,417,303




DATASTREAM SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Years Ended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001

1999 2000 2001
Revenues:
Product $ 39,267,761 $ 29,371,329 $ 25,782,578
Professional services and support 79,508,317 67,996,898 63,742,715
Total revenues 118,776,078 97,368,227 89,525,293
Cost of revenues:
Cost of product revenues 2,319,732 1,981,578 1,383,492
Cost of professional services and support revenues 40,123,883 40,041,657 33,881,038
Amortization of capitalized software development costs 4,101,785 — —
Total cost of revenues 46,545,400 42,023,235 35,264,530
Gross profit 72,230,678 55,344,992 54,260,763
Operating expenses (income):
Sales and marketing 33,694,598 44,405,152 36,228,614
Product development 14,554,565 15,887,136 12,383,942
General and administrative 10,833,236 12,954,302 9,816,331
Goodwill amortization 3,056,460 3,021,662 2,266,247
Impairment of goodwill and other long-lived assets — — 9,955,330
Change in restructuring estimate (294,201) — —
Total operating expenses 61,844,658 76,268,252 70,650,464
Operating income (loss) 10,386,020 (20,923,260) (16,389,701)
Other income (expense):
Interest and other income 1,643,668 768,200 792,429
Interest expense (182,323) (85,347) —
Other expense . — (4,703,423) —
Net other income (loss) 1,461,345 (4,020,570) 792,429
Income (loss) before income taxes 11,847,365 (24,943,830) (15,597,272)
Income tax expense (benefit) 4412219 (8,100,572) _{1,078,023)
Net income (loss) $ 7,435,146 $ (16,843,258) $ (14,519,249)
Basic net income (loss) per share h) 0.39 3 (0.84) % (0.71)
Diluted net income (loss) per share § 0.37 3 (0.84) $ (0.71)
Basic weighted average number of common
and potential common shares outstanding 19,118,535 20,008,710 20,403,166
Diluted weighted average number of common
and potential common shares outstanding 20,098,519 20,008,710 20,403,166

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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DATASTREAM SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001
1999 2000 2001

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) § 7,435,146 $ (16,843,258) (14,519,249)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash
provided by (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation 4,566,238 5,167,553 4,440,513
Amortization of capitalized software development costs 4,101,785 — —
Amortization of goodwill 3,056,460 3,021,662 2,266,247
Amortization of other intangible asset — 206,250 275,000
Accretion of investment discount, net (320) — —
Loss on disposal of equipment (26,935) — -
Provision for doubtful accounts 314,882 (223,766) (1,151,381)
Stock based compensation 125,775 237,677 104,210
Issuance of shares in legal settlement — 805,000 1,250,000
Deferred income taxes (355,800) (2,255,000) (3,980,497)
Impairment of goodwill and other long-lived assets — — 9,955,330
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 1,904,086 7,487,612 6,771,680
Unbilled revenue 456,675 264,002 (773,925)
Prepaid expenses 241,199 (223,297) 344757
Income taxes receivable/payable (2,289,523) (7,774,817) 11,612,067
Inventories 165,049 (15,606) 107,294
Other assets (47,303) 351,494 (369,610)
Accounts payable 775,511 (455,283) (1,031,174)
Other accrued liabilities (2,380,762) 3,437,577 (2,804,997)
Uneamned revenue 295,101 1,586,347 2,156,513
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 18,331,264 (5,225,853) 14,652,778
Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from sale and maturities of investments net of purchases 261,794 2,348,008 —
Additions to property and equipment (5,041,827) (5,709,722) (2,516,423)
Purchase of sustomer list — (550,000) —_
Capitalized software development costs (967,007} — —
Net cash used in investing activities (5,747,040) _(3,911,714) (2,516,423)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 3,573,013 7,095,887 591,844
Proceeds for stock issuances under employee purchase plan 349,399 472,744 366,338
Acquisition of treasury stock (4,052,763) — (2,128,908)
Principal payments on long-term debt (691,116) (653,105) (211,763)
Proceeds from issuance of debt 618,000 — —
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (203,467) 6,915,526 (1,382.,489)
Foreign currency translation adjustment (1,207,169) (203,241) (844,442)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 11,173,588 (2,425,282) 9,909,424
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 6,739,209 17,912,797 15,487,515
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 17,912,797 $ 15,487,515 25,396,939

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the year for:

Interest $ 171,778 $ 92,114 $ 43,290
Income taxes $ 7,123,200 $ 2,036,114 $ —
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash activities:
Unrealized net gain (loss) on investments available
for sale, net of income taxes $ 102,622 S (102,622) S —

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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DATASTREAM SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001

(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a)

(®)

(©

Organization and Basis of Presentation

Datastream Systems, Inc. (the “Company” or “Datastream”) is a leading provider of asset lifecycle
management solutions. The Company’s solutions enable businesses, government agencies and other
organizations to maximize the profitability of assets in. A component of this lifecycle is the
procurement of spare parts used to maintain assets. The Company’s iProcure solution automates this
process by connecting suppliers with buyers of industrial spare parts through the Internet. In
addition to its U.S. operations, the Company has direct sales offices in Argentina, Brazil, Canada,
Chile, China, France, Germany, Japan, Mexico, the Netherlands, Singapore, and the United
Kingdom.

Consolidation Policy

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Datastream Systems, Inc. and its
wholly owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and fransactions have been
eliminated.

Revenue Recognition

The Company’s revenue consists primarily of fees for product sales, professional services, hosting
and customer support. The Company recognizes license revenues when a non-cancelable license
agreement has been signed, the product has been shipped, the fees are fixed and determinable,
collectibility is probable and vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value exists to allocate the
total fee to the multiple elements of the arrangement. Vendor-specific objective evidence is based on
the price charged when the same element is sold separately or the price established by management
for an element not yet sold separately. The amount of license revenue is determined based on the
residual amount of the multiple element contract value that is not assigned to other elements based
on the vendor specific objective evidence of those elements. If an acceptance period is required, the
Company recognizes revenue upon customer acceptance or the expiration of the acceptance period.
The Company’s standard agreements do not contain product return rights.

The Company recognizes support revenues, which consist of fees for ongoing support and product
updates, ratably over the term of the contract, typically one year. The amount of support revenue
collected but not yet recognized is recorded as unearned revenue in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheet. Professional service revenues are primarily related to implementation, integration and
training services performed on a time-and-materials basis or a fixed fee arrangement under separate
service arrangements. Revenues from professional services are recognized as the services are
performed. Revenue from hosted software service arrangements is recognized ratably over the term
of the hosting arrangement.

The Company continually evaluates its obligations with respect to warranties, returns and refunds.
Based on historical trends and management's evaluation of current conditions, any potential
obligations that are inherent in the accounts receivable balance are adequately provided for through
the allowance for doubtful accounts. The Company may, in certain circumstances, grant discounts
for product sales. The discounts are recognized as a reduction of product revenue.
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DATASTREAM SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001

Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or
less to be cash equivalents.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments which potentially expose the Company tc concentrations of credit risk consist
primarily of trade accounts receivable. The Company has not experienced significant losses related
to receivables from individual customers or groups of customers in a particular industry or
geographic area. As a result, management believes no additional credit risk beyond the amounts
previded for estimated future collection losses is inherent 1n the Company's accounts receivable.

Investment Securities

The Company’s investment securities are classified as available-for-sale, thus recorded at fair value.

Unrealized holding gains and losses, net of the related tax effect, on available-for-sale securities are
excluded from eamnings and are reported as a separate component of stockholders’ equity until
realized. Equity securities without readily determinable fair values are recorded at cost. Realized
gains and losses from the sale of available-for-sale securities are determined on a specific
identification basis.

A decline in the market value of any available-for-sale security below cost that is deemed to be other
than temporary results in a reduction in carrying amount to fair value. The impairment is charged to
earnings and a new cost basis for the security established. Dividend and interest income are
recognized when earned.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or market (net realizable value).
Substantially all of the Company's inventory is software-related product.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line
method over the estimated useful lives of the assets for financial reporting and using the accelerated
and modified accelerated cost recovery systems for income tax reporting. The estimated useful lives
generally assigned are as follows:

Building 40 years
Computer equipment 3 to 5 years
Fumiture and fixtures 5 years
Automobiles S years
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DATASTREAM SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001

Software Development Costs

The Company capitalizes software development costs consisting principally of salaries and certain
other expenses related to development and modifications of software products in 1999 in accordance
with the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 86, "Accounting for the
Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed". Capitalization of such
costs began upon establishment of technological feasibility and ended when the resulting product
was available for sale. Under the Company’s current development model little time elapses between
technological feasibility and the product innovation or modifications being available for sale,
accordingly, no costs are capitalized.

During the years ended December 1999, 2000 and 2001, total costs incurred (excluding amortization
of capitalized software development costs) for software development activities were $15,521,571,
$15,887,136 and $12,383,942, respectively. Total capitalized software development costs and related
amortization were $967,007 and $4,101,785, respectively for the year ended December 31, 1999.
There were no capitalized software development costs or related amortization costs for the years
ended December 31, 2000 and 2001.

The Company capitalizes certain development costs for internal-use software. Capitalizable costs
consist of (a) certain external direct costs of materials and services incurrea in developing or
obtaining internal-use software, (b) payroll and payroll-related costs for employees who are directly
associated with and who devote time to the project, and (c) interest costs incurred. Total costs
capitalized are included in property and equipment in the consolidated balance sheets and have not
been material.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair values of assets acquired.
Goodwill is amortized using the straight-line method over its estimated useful life of seven years.
Under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 121, "Accounting for the Impairment of
Long Lived Assets and for Long Lived Assets to be Disposed of" (SFAS 121), the recoverability of
goodwill is reviewed upon certain triggering events. Impairment, if any, is determined when the
carrying value of an asset cannot be recovered over its remaining useful life from undiscounted
future cash flows, and is measured and recognized if the fair value is less than the asset’s carrying
amount.

During 2001 the Company identified indicators of possible impairment which included, but were not
limited to, significant negative industry and economic trends, significant under-performance of
certain of the Company's international operations relative to historical or projected future operating
results, the Company's net book value as compared to market capitalization and a decline in the
Company's stock price for a sustained period.
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DATASTREAM SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001

In accordance with the provisions of SFAS 121, the Company first considered the expected future
cash flows (undiscounted) attributable to the international operations holding the intangible assets.
Because the sum of the expected cash flows (undiscounted) attributable to these operations was less
than the carrying value of their long-lived assets, the assets were considered impaired. Impairment
was calculated by deducting the estimate of fair value from the carrying value of the assets. The
estimate of fair value was based upon the discounted estimated future cash flows for the geographic
regions impacted for the relevant years using a discount rate based upon weighted average cost of
capital for comparable companies and an estimated terminal value. The assumptions supporting the
estimated cash flows, including the discount rate and an estimated terminal value, reflect
management's best estimates.

As a result of this analysis, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $9,955,330 in 20¢1 to
reduce goodwill and other long-lived assets to fair value. The impairment charge was associated with
the Company's European acquisitions of SQL Group B.V. ($2,337,011) and Datastream Systems
GmbH & Co KG ($2,472,444), the Company's Pacific Rim acquisitions of Datastream Systems Pte
Ltd. ($3,075,288) and Datastream Systems Pty Ltd. ($611,802) and the Company's Latin American
acquisition of Computec S.A. and Datastream Systems de Mexicoe S.A. de C.V. ($1,458,785). There
are no remaining goodwill balances at December 31, 2001 and there will be no goodwill
amortization expense related to these acquisitions in future periods.

Other intangible asset consists of a customer list. It is amortized on a straight-line basis over its
estimated useful life of two years.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company has only limited involvement with derivative financial instruments and uses them only
to manage well-defined foreign currency rate risks.

Foreign currency average rate range forward contracts have been used to manage fluctuations of the
European “Euro”. During 2000, the Company had a foreign currency contract that settled quarterly
on March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31. As such, all gains and losses were realized
and recorded each quarter in the consolidated statement of operations. At December 31, 2000 and
2001, the Company was not party to any foreign currency contract.

Stock Option Plans

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 allows an entity tc apply the provisions of
APB Opinion No. 25 and provide pro forma net income (loss) and pro forma earnings (loss) per
share disclosures for employee stock option grants made in 1995 and future years as if the fair-value-
based method defined in Statement No. 123 had been applied. The Company has elected to continue
to apply the provisions of APB Opinion No. 25 and provide the pro forma disclosure provisions of
Statement No. 123.
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DATASTREAM SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001

{m) [Income Taxes

()

(0)

»

(@)

The Company records income taxes using the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the
financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable
income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled.
The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the
period that includes the enactment date.

Net Income (Loss) Per Share

Basic net income (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding. Diluted net income (loss) per share is computed by dividing
net income (loss) by the weighted average number of common and potential common shares
outstanding, provided no anti-dilution exists. Diluted weighted average common and potential
comm:on shares include commeon shares and stock options using the treasury stock method.

Foreign Currency Translation

The financial statements of subsidiaries outside the United States are generally measured using the
local currency as the functional currency. Gains and losses from foreign currency transactions, such
as those resulting from the settlements of foreign receivables or payables are reported in the
consolidated statement of operations. Translation of these foreign operations to United States dollars
occurs using the current exchange rate for balance sheet accounts and an average exchange rate for
results of operations. Translation gains or losses are recognized as a component of equity in “Other
Accumulated Comprehensive Income (Loss)”.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) consists of net income (loss), net unrealized foreign currency
translation adjustments and net unrealized gains (losses) on securities and is presented in the
consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income (loss).

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 141, “Business Combinations”’(SFAS 141), and Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (SFAS 142). SFAS 141
requires that the purchase method of accounting be used for all business combinations initiated after
June 30, 2001. SFAS 141 also specifies criteria that intangible assets acquired in a purchase method
business combination must meet to be recognized and reported apart from goodwill. SFAS 142
requires that goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives no longer be amortized, but
instead tested for impairment. The effective date of SFAS 142 is January 1, 2002. The Company
expects no material impact on the adoption of SFAS’s 141 and 142.
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DATASTREAM SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001

In August 2001, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144,
“Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (SFAS 144). SFAS 144 retains
the fundamental provisions of Statement for Accounting Standards No. 121, “Accounting for the
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of” (SFAS 121), while
resolving significant implementation issues associated with SFAS 121. The effective date of SFAS
144 is January 1, 2002. The Company does not expect a material impact as a result of adopting
SFAS 144.

(r)  Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period including estimates and assumptions for allowance for doubtful accounts, allowance
for deferred tax assets, and useful lives of goodwill and capitalized software development costs.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

(s) Advertising Costs

The Company expenses advertising costs in the period incurred. Advertising expense was
approximately $1,870,000, $3,535,000 and $3,022,000 in 1699, 2000 and 2001, respectively.

(¢  Reclassifications

Certain amounts in the 2000 financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the 2001
presentaticn. These reclassifications had nc impact on stockholders’ equity or net loss as previously
reported.

Restructuring

In 1999 the Company completed its plans to reorganize and centralize certain functions and discontinue
certain product lines, as announced at December 31, 1998. Upon final implementation of its restructuring
plan, the Company recorded other operating income of $294,201 resulting from the reduction of actual
involuntary termination costs from the original estimate.

Investment Securities

During 2000, the Company entered into a preferred stock purchase agreement with an unrelated auction
company (the “Investee”). Under the agreement, the Company purchased 249,688 shares (adjusted for a
one to three reverse stock split) of the Investee’s convertible preferred stock for a total purchase price of
$2.0 million. This investment is being accounted for as an available-for-sale equity security and is
included in non-current investments in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet at its estimated fair
value.
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DATASTREAM SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001

(4) Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value of financial instruments is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties.

At December 31, 2000 and 2001, the carrying value of financial instruments such as cash and cash
equivalents, accounts receivable, and accounts payable approximated their fair values, based upon the short
maturities of these instruments.

The fair value of the Company's long-term debt is estimated using discounted cash flow analysis, based on
the Company's current incremental borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements. The
carrying value of such instruments approximated their fair value at December 31, 2000 and 2001.

At December 31, 2000 and 2001, investment securities are carried at fair value.

(5) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following at December 31:

20600 2001
Land $ 544614 $ 490,314
Building 7,360,322 7,647,840
Computer equipment 17,844,097 18,878,816
Furniture and fixtures 2,923,988 2,870,704
28,673,021 29,887,674
Accumulated depreciation (14,547 381) (17,856,124)

$ 14,125,640  $ 12,031,550

(6) Otker Accrued Liabilities

Other accrued liabilities consisted of the following at December 31:

2000 2001
Accrued salaries and commission $ 3,522,036 S 2,370,525
Sales and payroll taxes payable 607,221 799,04%
Accrued legal settlement 1,400,683 —
Value added taxes 1,789,868 2,058,649
Other accrued liabilities 3,505,186 2,791,774

$ 10,824,994 § 8,019,997
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DATASTREAM SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001

(7) Long-term Debt
Long-term debt as of December 31, 2000 consists of the following:

2000 2001
Note payable in annual payments of $16,500, plus
interest at 5.5% through December 2001;
collateralized by building $ 211,035 $ —
Subordinated note payable in annual payments of $2,837,
plus interest at 6.5% through December 2002 10,723 9,995
221,758 9,995
Less current portion (213,642) (9,995)
Long-term debt, less current portion $ 8,116 $ —_

The Company maintains a Singapore line of credit for Sgd 1,242,500 (approximately $673,000) which
bears interest at 1% over the Singapore dollar prime lending rate.

(8) Income Taxes

Income tax expense (benefit) for the years ended December 31 is as follows:

Current Deferred Total
1999:
Federal $ 3,002,073 $ (1,887,160) $ 1,114,913
State 367,900 (226,235) 141,665
Foreign 1,398,046 1,757,595 3,155,641
Total $ 4,768,019 $ (355,800) $ 4412219
2000:
Federal $ (4,876,903) $ (766,000) $ (5,642,903)
State (130,549) (388,000) (518,549)
Foreign (838,120) (1,101,000) (1,939,120)
Total $ (5,845,572) $ (2,255,000) $ (8,100,572)
2001:
Federal $ — $ (1,787,592) $ (1,787,592)
State — (208,202 (208,202)
Foreign 539,921 377,850 917,771
Total $ 539,921 $ (1,617,944) $ (1,078,023)
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DATASTREAM SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001

During 2000, various employees exercised their incentive stock options and disposed of the underlying
common stock of the Company prior to the one-year stock holding period as mandated by Internal
Revenue Code Section 422(a)(1). As a result, the Company measured the compensation element
associated with such disqualifying dispositions of stock and reported such amounts to the employees as
income. The resulting income tax deduction available to the Company created a deferred income tax
benefit through the creation of a net operating loss carry-forward that is properly chargeable to Additional
Paid-in-Capital in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25. As a result of the above
transaction, the components of deferred income tax expense (benefit) for the year ended December 31,
2001 are presented below:

Current year increase in net deferred income tax asset $ (3,980,497)
Additional paid-in-capital 2,362,553
Deferred income tax benefit $ (1,617,944)

Income tax expense (benefit) differed from the amounts computed by applying the Federal income tax rate
of 34% as a result of the following:

1999 A 2000 2001

Computed "expected" tax expense

(benefit) $ 4,028,104 $ (8,480,902) $ (5,303,072)
Increase (decrease) in income taxes

resulting from:
State and local income taxes, net of

Federal income tax benefits 93,500 (309,570) (137,413)
Goodwill amortization 1,039,197 1,627,365 4,155,336
Research and development credit — (500,000) (335,000)
Reduction in expected liability (803,207) — —
Valuation allowance — 591,000 480,036
Other, net 54,625 {428,465) 62,050

Actual tax expense
(benefit) § 4412219 $ (8,100,572) $ (1,078,023)
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DATASTREAM SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes.
Significant components of the Company's deferred income tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

2000 2001

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss and research & experimentation

carryforwards $ 2,458,000 $ 8,271,149
Accrued expenses and allowances 2,855,000 1,502,384
Total gross deferred tax assets $ 5,313,000 9,773,533
Less valuation allowance (1,648,000) (2,128,036)

Net deferred tax assets $ 3,665,000 $ 7,645,497

The valuation allowance for deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2000 and 2001 was $1,648,000 and
$2,128,036, respectively. and relates to net operating loss carryforwards of foreign subsidiaries, which at
this time are uncertain of recovery. The net increase in the valuation allowance for deferred income tax
assets as of December 31, 2000 and 2001 was $591,000 and $480,036, respectively. In assessing the
realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some
portion or all of the deferred income tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realizaticn of deferred
income tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which
those temporary differences become deductible. Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred
income tax labilities, projected future taxable income, and tax planning strategies in making this
assessment.

At December 31, 2001, the Company has net operating loss, research and experimentation credit and
alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards for U.S. federal income tax purposes of approximately
$9,673,000, $835,000 and $515,000 respectively, which expire in varying amounts beginning in the year
2020. The Company also has incurred foreign losses in the amount of approximately $7,409,000 that are
available to offset future taxable income in foreign jurisdictions. Approximately $1,148,000 of the foreign
net operating loss carryforward will expire in varying amounts in the year 2005; the remainder can be
carried forward indefinitely.

Employee Savings and Retirement Plan

Effective September 1, 1992, the Company established a 401(k) Retirement Plan under Section 401(k) of
the Internal Revenue Code. The Plan is funded in part from employee voluntary contributions with the
Company's contribution equal to one-half of the employee's contribution up to 3% of their compensation.
The Plan provided for voluntary employee contributions of up tc 15% of their total compensation until
April 1, 2001 at which time employees could contribute up to 20% of their total compensation or $11,000.

The Company's contributions to the Plan totaled approximately $527,000, $621,000 and $698,000 in 1999,
2000 and 2001, respectively.
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DATASTREAM SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001

(10) Stock Compensatiom Plans

The Company has several stock compensation plans. The plans are described below.

Options granted under the 1995 Stock Cption Plan vest incrementally over a period of one to five years
and expire either five or ten years from the date of grant, depending on the terms of the particular option
agreement. Options under the plan are granted with an exercise price at least equal to the fair market value
of the underlying shares at the grant date. Incentive options granted to a participant who is an over 10%
owner are not granted at less than 110% of the fair market value of the underlying shares at the grant date.

Options granted pursuant to the Datastream Systems, Inc. 1997 European Stock Option Plan have varying
vesting patterns up to five years from the date of grant, depending on the applicable laws of the foreign
jurisdiction and the terms of the particular option agreement. Options granted under the EU Plan expire
ten years after the date of grant and are granted at the fair market value of the underlying shares at the date
of grant.

Options granted under the Datastream Systems, Inc. 1998 Stock Option Plan vest incrementally over a
period of one to five years and expire either five or ten years from the date of grant, depending on the
terms of the particular option agreement. Options under the Plan are granted with an exercise price at least
equal to the fair market value of the underlying shares at the grant date. Incentive options granted to a
participant who is an over 10% owner are not granted at less than 110% of the fair market value of the
underlying shares at the grant date.

Options granted pursuant to Datastream Systems, Inc. 1998 Singapore Stock Option Plan vest
incrementally over a period of one to three years, depending on the terms of the particular opticns
agreement, and expire ten years from the date of grant. Options are granted at the fair market value of the
underlying shares at the grant date.

Options granted pursuant to the Datastream Systems, Inc. 1998 German Stock Option Plan vest
incrementally over a period of one to five years, depending on the terms of the particular option agreement,
and expire ten years from the date of grant. Options are granted at the fair market value of the underlying
shares at the grant date.

Options granted pursuant to the Datastream Systems, Inc. 1998 Australian Stock Option Plan vest
incrementally over a period of one to five years, depending on the terms of the particular option agreement,
and expire ten years from the date of grant. Options are granted at the fair market value of the underlying
shares at the grant date.

Options granted pursuant to the Datastream Systems, Inc. 1999 Argentinean Stock Option Plan vest
incrementally over a period of one to five years, depending on the terms of the particular options
agreement, and expire ten years from the date of grant. Options are granted at the fair market value of the
underlying shares at the grant date.

As of December 31, 2001 there were 662,379 options available for grant under the above plans.
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DATASTREAM SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001

A summary of activity in the plans noted above during the periods indicated is as follows:

Weighted-
Average
Number of Exercise
Shares Price
Stock options outstanding:
Balance at December 31, 1998 3,092,898 $ 8.30
Granted 987,675 10.63
Exercised (454,807) 7.91
Forfeited (232,204) 9.79
Balance at December 31, 1999 3,393,562 8.94
Granted 1,763,748 9.32
Exercised ($60,033) 7.90
Forfeited (578,199) 10.74
Balance at December 31, 2000 3,619,078 9.12
Granted 800,083 3.59
Exercised (88,668) 6.67
Forfeited (427,038) 9.69
Balance at December 31, 2001 3,903,455 $ 7.98
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DATASTREAM SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding under the plans noted above
at December 31, 2001:

Options Cutstanding Options exercisable
Weighted
Average Weighted -
k Remaining Average
Range of Numbers Contractual Number Exercise
Exercise Prices QOutstanding Life Exercisable Price
2.28-4.55 782,798 8.5 125,348 3.75
4.55-6.83 112,993 7.9 38,943 6.38
6.83-9.10 1,903,142 73 1,122,628 8.16
9.10-11.38 806,930 6.5 632,478 10.42
11.38-13.65 241,743 7.7 120,565 12.24
13.65 - 1593 21,716 5.6 20,883 14.58
15.93-18.20 21,633 7.5 12,217 17.68
18.20-20.48 2,500 8.1 834 18.50
2048 -22.75 10,000 6.2 10,000 22.50
3,903,455 7.4 2,083,896 8.98

The per share weighted-average fair value of stock options granted under the plans during 2000 and 2001
was $8.12 and $1.58 on the date of grant using the Black Scholes option-pricing model with the following
weighted-average assumptions: 2000 — expected dividend yield of 0%; expected volatility of 106.5%; risk-
free interest rate of 6.0%, and an expected life of 10 years; 2001 — expected dividend yield of 0%; expected
volatility of 85.8%; risk-free interest rate of 5.1%, and an expected life of 10 years.

Stock Option Plan for Directors

Under the Director’s Plan, eligible directors automatically receive options to purchase, at the fair market
value of a share on the date of grant, (i) 9,000 shares of Common Stock upon the commencement of their
service as a director and (1i) 2,000 shares of Common Stock annually as of the first business day of each
fiscal year.

As of December 31, 2001 there were 111,000 options available for grant under the Director’s Plan.
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Notes tc Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001

A summary of activity in the Directors’ Plan during the periods indicated are as follows:

Weighted-
Average
Number of Exercise
Shares Price !

Stock options outstanding:
Balance at December 31, 1998 47,000 $ 7.21
Granted 8,000 9.53
Balance at December 31, 1999 55,000 7.55
Granted 8,000 22795
Balance at December 31, 2000 63,000 9.48
Granted 17,000 9.07
Balance at December 31, 2001 80,000 $ 9.39

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding under the Director’s Plan at
December 31, 2001:

Options Qutstanding . Options exercisable
Weighted
Average Weighted -
Remaining Average
Range of Numbers Contractual Number Exercise
Exercise Prices QOutstanding Life Exercisable Price
2.28-4.55 27,000 2.2 27,000 3.75
6.83-9.10 13,000 8.1 4,000 8.56
9.10-11.38 24,000 5.0 18,000 9.80
13.65-15.93 8,000 4.6 8,000 15.25
20.48 -22.75 8,000 6.1 8,000 22.75
80,000 4.6 65,000 9.47

The per share weighted-average fair value of stock options granted under the Director's Plan during 2000
and 2001 was $20.48 and $3.63 on the date of grant using the Black Scholes option-pricing model with the
following weighted-average assumptions: 2000 — expected dividend yield of 0%, expected volatility of
106.5%, risk-free interest rate of 6.0%; and expected life of 10 years; 2001 — expected dividend yield of
0%; expected volatility of 85.8%; risk-free interest rate of 5.1%, and an expected life of 10 years.
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Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Purchase Plan permits eligible employees to elect to contribute up to 15% of their regular
compensation through payroll deductions, toward the purchase of common stock at 85% of the fair market
value of a share on either the date the right is granted (the first day of each semi-annual period) or the date
it is exercised (the last day of such period), whichever is lower. The Purchase Plan is intended to comply
with Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. The Board of Directors and the
Company’s stockholders have reserved 400,000 shares of common stock for future issuance pursuant to the
Purchase Plan. Under the Plan, the Company sold 39,500 and 48,800 shares in 2000 and 2001,
respectively.

Under Statement No. 123, compensation expense for the Purchase Plan is determined based on the
discount percentage at which the stock is purchased.

The Company applies APB Opinion No. 25 in accounting for its stock option and stock purchase plans
and, accordingly, no compensation cost has been recognized for its stock options or for stock purchased
under the Purchase Plan in the financial statements. Had the Company determined compensation cost
based on the fair value at the grant date for stock options or based on the discount percentage under the
Purchase Plan under Statement No. 123, the Company’s net income would have been reduced to the pro
forma amounts indicated below:

1999 2000 2001
Net income (loss) As reported S 7,435,146 (16,843,258) (14,519,249)
' Pro forma (316,987) (25,598,804) (18,100,410)
Basic:
Net income (loss) As reported $ 39 (.84) (7D
per share Pro forma (.02) (1.28) {.89)
Diluted:
Net income (loss) As reported $ 37 (.84) (71)
per share Pro forma (.02) (1.28) (.89)

Compensation cost related to the Plans is reflected over the options’ vesting period of one to five years.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Leases

The Company leases office space, automobiles and equipment under agreements which have been
classified as operating leases for financial reporting purposes. At December 31, 2001, the approximate
future minimum lease payments under noncancelable operating leases that expire at various dates through
2006 are as follows:

2002 1,648,136
2003 867,417
2004 530,398
2005 368,461
2006 348,957

S 3,763,369

Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001 totaled $1,322,271, $1,576,891, and
$1,369,353, respectively.

Segment and Geegraphic Infermation

The Company has identified one business segment for reporting purposes, Asset Lifecycle Management.
The Company manages the Asset Lifecycle Management business over geographical regions. The
principal areas of operation include the United States, Europe, Latin America and Asia. Financial
information concerning the Company’s operations in different geographical regions is as follows:

United Latin

States Europe America Asia Teotal
1999:
Total revenues 80,891,835 26,267,878 5,028,733 6,587,632 118,776,078
Operating income 5,661,978 3,091,766 1,143,885 488,391 10,386,020
Total assets 64,955,845 15,759,880 3,042,961 4,416,353 §8,175,039
2000:
Total revenues 65,414,206 20,153,867 6,969,087 4,831,067 97,368,227
Operating income (loss) (16,475,774) (3,269,455) 19,447 (1,197,478) (20,923,260)
Total assets 64,459,985 12,967,518 3,920417 3,925914 85,282,834
2001:
Total revenues 58,275,191 18,422,614 7,608,057 5,219,431 89,525,293
Operating income (loss) (15,174,405) (655,952) (275,377) (283,967) (16,389,701)
Total assets 51,070,715 11,835,534 4,227,568 4,283,486 71,417,303

The United States revenues include international revenues of $4,968,000, $3,451,000 and $2,935,000 for
the years ended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001, respectively.
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(13) Reconciliation of Basic and Diluted Income Per Share

Basic net income (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding. Diluted net income (loss) per share is computed by dividing net
income {loss) by the weighted average number of common and potential dilutive common shares
outstanding. Diluted weighted average common and potential dilutive common shares include common
shares and stock options using the treasury stock method, except when those shares result in antidilution.
The reconciliation of basic and diluted income per share is as follows:

Per Share
Income (loss) Shares Amount
1999:
Basic income per share § 7,435,146 19,118,535 $ 39
Effect of dilutive securities:
Stock options — 979,984
Diluted income per share $ 7,435,146 20,098,519 ) 37
2000:
Basic (loss) per share $(16,843,258) 20.008,710 ) $ (.84)
Effect of dilutive securities:
Stock options — —
Diluted (loss) per share $(16,843,258) 20,008,710 $ (84
2001:
Basic (loss) per share $ (14,519,249) 20,403,166 $ (71
Effect of dilutive securities:
Stock options -— —
Diluted (loss) per share $ (14,519,249) 20,403,166 $  (71)

(14) Commitments and Contingencies

The Company is occasionally involved in claims arising out of its operations in the normal course of
business, none of which are expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a material adverse affect on
the Company.

During 2000, the Company reached an agreement to settle the consolidated securities class action litigation
filed against the Company in January 1999. Under the agreement all claims against the Company and all
of the individually named defendants have been dismissed. In agreeing to the settlement, the Company
and the individual defendants specifically denied any wrongdoing or liability relating to the claims made in
the litigation.

The principal financial terms of the agreement called for payment to the plaintiffs, for the benefit of the
class, a total of $5.00 million in a combination of $3.75 million in cash and $1.25 million in shares of the
Company’s common stock. The Company’s insurance carrier funded $2.40 million of the settlement.
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In an unrelated matter, the Company agreed to settle an escrow dispute related to its 1996
acquisition of SQL Systems. Under the terms of the settlement, the Company agreed to release
70,000 shares of the Company’s common stock that had been held in escrow to the former
shareholders of SQL Systems.

The settlement charges and related legal fees are included in other expenses on the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

The Board of Directors
Datastream Systems, Inc:

Under date of February 8, 2002, we reported on the consolidated balance sheets of Datastream Systems, Inc. and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2000 and 2001, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’
equity and comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2001, which are included herein. In connection with our audits of the aforementioned consolidated
financial statements, we also audited the related accompanying consolidated financial statement schedule. The
consolidated financial statement schedule is the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statement schedule based on our audits.

In our opinion, such financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial
statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

/s' KPMG LLP

Greenville, South Carolina
February 8, 2002

S-1




Datastream Systems, Inc.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Receivable

Balance at Provision Balance at
Beginning of for Doubtful End of

Description Year Accounts Deductions Year
Allowance for doubtful accounts

receivable:

Year ended December 31, 1999 $ 3,073,837 $ 2,139,482 $ (1,824,600) $ 3,388,719

Year ended December 31, 2000 $ 3,388,719 $ 1,775,084 $ (1,980,350) $ 3,183,453

Year ended December 31, 2001 $ 3,183,453 $ 967,720 § (2,283,101) $ 1,868,072

The Provision for Doubtful Accounts for 1999 includes a $600,000 reclassification related to the 1998 Restructuring
Charge which is not reflected in the bad debt expense on the statement of income.




SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has
duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Datastream Systems, Inc.

Date:  March 29, 2002 By: /s/ Larry G. Blackwell
Larry G. Blackwell
Chairman of the Board,
President and Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears on the signature page
to this Report constitutes and appoints Larry G. Blackwell and C. Alex Estevez and each of them, his true and lawful
attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place and
stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this
Report, and to file the same, with all exhibits hereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, and grants unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full
power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about
the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming
all that said attorneys-in-fact and grants or any of them, or their or his substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be
done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the
following persons in the capacities indicated on March 29, 2002.

Signature Title
/s/ Larry G. Blackwell Chairman of the Board, President
Larry G. Blackwell And Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)
/s/ C. Alex Estevez Chief Financial Officer
C. Alex Estevez (principal financial and accounting officer)
/s/ Richard T. Brock Director
Richard T. Brock
/s/ Ira D. Cohen Director
Ira D. Cohen
/s/ John M. Sterling. Jr. Director

John M. Sterling, Jr.

/s/ James R, Talton, Jr. Director

James R. Talton, Jr.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Description
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.
Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, dated January 12, 1998.

Certificate of Designation, Preferences and Rights of Series A Junior Participating Preferred
Stock of Datastream Systems, Inc., dated December 11, 2001.

Bylaws.

Amendment to Bylaws, dated March 22, 2001.

See Exhibits 3.1 and 3.2 for provisions of the Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation and By-Laws of the Company defining rights of holders of Common Stock of
the Company. ’

Specimen Stock Certificate.

Stockholder Protection Rights Agreement, dated December 10, 2001, between Datastream
Systems, Inc. and First Union National Bank. as Rights Agent.

The Datastream Systems, Inc. 1995 Stock Option Plan (as amended and restated through
May 7, 1997)."

First Amendment to the Datastream Systenis, Inc. 1995 Stock Option Plan (as amended and
restated through May 7, 1997), dated March 14, 1998."

Second Amendment to the Datastream Systems, Inc. 1995 Stock Option Plan (as amended
and restated through May 7, 1997), dated May 8, 1998."

Third Amendment to the Datastream Systems, Inc. 1995 Stock Option Plan (as amended
and restated May 7, 1997), dated March 12, 1999."

The Datastream Systems, Inc. Stock Option Plan for Directors (as amended and restated as
of April 12, 1996).V

First Amendment to Datastream Systems, Inc. Stock Option Plan for Directors (as amended
and restated as of April 12, 1996), dated March 13, 1998V

Second Amendment to the Datastream Systems, Inc. Stock Option Plan for Directors (as
amended and restated as of April 12, 1996), dated March 12, 1999.4)

The Datastream Systems, Inc. 1998 Stock Option Plan.")

First Amendment to the Datastream Systems, Inc. 1998 Stock Option Plan, dated March 12,
1999."

Subsidiaries of the Company.

Consent of KPMG LLP.

Power of Attormney (included on signature page hereto).
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Incorporated herein by reference to exhibit of the same number in the from S-1 Registration Statement of the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 33-89498).

Incorporated herein by reference to exhibit of the same number in Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1997 (File No. 000-25590)

Incorporated by reference herein to exhibit of the same number in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-
K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000 (File No. 000-25590).

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99.1 in the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
December 12, 2001.

Incorporated herein by reference to Appendix A to the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for the
Company’s 1997 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, filed May 12, 1997 (File No. 000-25590).

Incorporated herein by reference to exhibit of the same number in Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1998 (File No. 000-25590)

Incorporated herein by reference to Appendix C to the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for the
Company’s 1996 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, filed April 23, 1996 (File No. 000-25590).

Incorporated herein by reference to Appendix A to the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for the
Company’s 1998 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, filed May 12, 1998 (File No. 000-25590)

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit to this Form 10-
K pursuant to Item 14(c) of this report.




EXHIBIT 3.1(b)
CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATION,
PREFERENCES AND RIGHTS OF
SERIES A JUNIOR PARTICIPATING PREFERRED STOCK
OF
DATASTREAM SYSTEMS, INC.
Pursuant to Section 151 of the
Delaware General Corporation Law

Datastream Systems, Inc., a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Delaware (the
"Corporation"), hereby certifies that, pursuant to the authority conferred upon the Board of Directors by the
Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, of the Corporation, the Board of Directors on December 10, 2001, adopted
the following resolution creating a series of 100,000 shares of Preferred Stock designated as Series A Junior
Participating Preferred Stock:

RESOLVED, that pursuant to the authority granted to and vested in the Board of Directors of this
Corporation (the "Board") in accordance with the provisions of its Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, a series
of Preferred Stock of the Corporation be and it hereby is created, and that the designation and amount thereof and
the voting rights or powers, preferences and relative, participating, optional and other special rights of the shares of
such series, and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof are as follows:

1. Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock. There is hereby established a series of Preferred Stock,
par value $1.00 per share, of the Corporation, and the designation and certain terms, powers, preferences and other
rights of the shares of such series, and certain qualifications, limitations and restrictions thereon, are hereby fixed as
follows:

(1) The distinctive serial designation of this series shall be "Series A Junior Participating Preferred
Stock” (hereinafter called "this Series"). Each share of this Series shall be identical in all respects with the other
shares of this Series except as to the dates from and after which dividends thereon shall be cumulative.

(i) The number of shares in this Series shall initially be 100,000, which number may from time to
time be increased or decreased (but not below the number then outstanding) by the Board of Directors. Shares of
this Series purchased by the Corporation shall be canceled and shall revert to authorized but unissued shares of
Preferred Stock undesignated as to series. Shares of this Series may be issued in fractional shares, which fractional
shares shall entitle the holder, in proportion to such holder's fractional share, to all rights of a holder of a whole
share of this Series.

(ii1) The holders of full or fractional shares of this Series shall be entitled to receive, when and as
declared by the Board of Directors, but only out of funds legally available therefor, dividends, (A) on each date that
dividends or other distributions (other than dividends or distributions payable in Common Stock of the Corporation) \
are payable on or in respect of Common Stock comprising part of the Reference Package (as defined below), in an
amount per whole share of this Series equal to the aggregate amount of dividends or other distributions (other than
dividends or distributions payable in Common Stock of the Corporation) that would be payable on such date to a
holder of the Reference Package and (B) on the last day of March, June, September and December in each year, in
an amount per whole share of this Series equal to the excess (if any) of $1.00 over the aggregate dividends paid per
whole share of this Series during the three-month period ending on such last day. Each such dividend shall be paid
to the holders of record of shares of this Series on the date, not exceeding 60 days preceding such dividend or
distribution payment date, fixed for that purpose by the Board of Directors in advance of payment of each particular
dividend or distribution. Dividends on each full and each fractional share of this Series shall be cumulative from the
date such full or fractional share is originally issued; provided that any such full or fractional share originally issued
after a dividend record date and on or prior to the dividend payment date to which such record date relates shall not
be entitled to receive the dividend payable on such dividend payment date or any amount in respect of the period
from such original issuance to such dividend payment date.




The term "Reference Package"” shall initially mean 10,000 shares of Common Stock, par value
$.01 per share ("Common Stock"), of the Corporation. In the event the Corporation shall at any time (A) declare or
pay a dividend on any Common Stock payable in Common Stock, (B) subdivide any Common Stock or (C) combine
any Common Stock into a smaller number of shares, then and in each such case the Reference Package after such
event shall be the Common Stock that a holder of the Reference Package immediately prior to such event would
hold thereafter as a result thereof.

Holders of shares of this Series shall not be entitled to any dividends, whether payable in cash,
property or stock, in excess of full cumulative dividends, as herein provided, on this Series.

So long as any shares of this Series are outstanding, no dividend (other than a dividend in
Common Stock or in any other stock ranking junior to this Series as to dividends and upon liquidation) shall be
declared or paid or set aside for payment or other distribution declared or made upon the Common Stock or upon
any other stock ranking junior to this Series as to dividends or upon liquidation, nor shall any Common Stock nor
any other stock of the Corporation ranking junior to or on a parity with this Series as to dividends or upon
liquidation be redeemed, purchased or otherwise acquired for any consideration (or any moneys be paid to or made
available for a sinking fund for the redemption of any shares of any such stock) by the Corporation (except by
conversion into or exchange for stock of the Corporation ranking junior to this Series as to dividends and upon
liquidation), unless, in each case, the full cumulative dividends (including the dividend to be due upon payment of
such dividend, distribution, redemption, purchase or other acquisition) on all outstanding shares of this Series shall
have been, or shall contemporaneously be, paid.

(iv) In the event of any merger, consolidation, reclassification or other transaction in which the
shares of Common Stock are exchanged for or changed into other stock or securities, cash and/or any other property,
then in any such case the shares of this Series shall at the same time be similarly exchanged or changed in an amount
per whole share equal to the aggregate amount of stock, securities, cash and/or any other property (payable in kind),
as the case may be, that a holder of the Reference Package would be entitled to receive as a result of such
transaction.

(v) In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the affairs of the Corporation,
whether voluntary or involuntary, the holders of full and fractional shares of this Series shall be entitled, before any
distribution or payment is made on any date to the holders of the Common Stock or any other stock of the
Corporation ranking junior to this Series upon liquidation, to be paid in full an amount per whole share of this Series
equal to the greater of (A) $1.060 or (B) the aggregate amount distributed or to be distributed prior to such date in
connection with such liquidation, dissolution or winding up to a holder of the Reference Package (such greater
amount being hereinafter referred to as the "Liquidation Preference"), together with accrued dividends to such
distribution or payment date, whether or not earned or declared. If such payment shall have been made in full to all
holders of shares of this Series, the holders of shares of this Series as such shall have no right or claim to any of the
remaining assets of the Corporation.

In the event the assets of the Corporation available for distribution to the holders of shares of this
Series upon any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation, whether voluntary or involuntary, shall be
insufficient to pay in full all amounts to which such holders are entitled pursuant to the first paragraph of this
Section (v), no such distribution shall be made on account of any shares of any other class or series of Preferred
Stock ranking on a parity with the shares of this Series upon such liquidation, dissolution or winding up unless
proportionate distributive amounts shall be paid on account of the shares of this Series, ratably in proportion to the
full distributable, amounts for which holders of all such parity shares are respectively entitled upon such liquidation,
dissolution or winding up.

Upon the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation, the holders of shares of this
Series then outstanding shall be entitled to be paid out of assets of the Corporation available for distribution to its
stockholders all amounts to which such holders are entitled pursuant to the first paragraph of this Section (v) before
any payment shall be made to the holders of Common Stock or any other stock of the Corporation ranking junior
upon liquidation to this Series.




For the purposes of this Section (v), the consolidation or merger of, or binding share exchange by,
the Corporation with any other corporation shall not be deemed to constitute a liquidation, dissolution or winding up
of the corporation.

(vi) The shares of this Series shall not be redeemable.

(vii) In addition to any other vote or consent of stockholders required by law or by the Certificate
of Incorporation of the Corporation, each whole share of this Series shall, on any matter, vote as a class with any
other capital stock comprising part of the Reference Package and voting on such matter and shall have the number of
votes thereon that a holder of the Reference Package would have.

IN WITNESS WHEREQCF, Datastream Systems, Inc. has caused this Certificate of Designation to be

executed as of December 11, 2001.

DATASTREAM SYSTEMS, INC.

By: _/s/ Larry G. Blackwell

Larry G. Blackwell
President and Chief Executive Officer
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EXHIBIT 21

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES AND THEIR COUNTRY OF INCORPORATION/OPERATION

iProcure, Inc.

Datastream Systems International, Inc.
Datastream FSC, Inc.

SQL Group, B.V.

Datastream Systems, BV

Datastream Systems (UK), Ltd.
Datastream, SA

SQL System Participates, BV

SQL Systems Deutschland, GmbH
Datastream Systems, GmbH
Datastream Insta Holding GmbH
Datastream Systems GmbH & Co. KG
Asystum Participations, BV
Datastream Systems Ireland Ltd.
Sikasso Pte Ltd.

Datastreamn Systems Pte Ltd.
Datastream Systems Co., Ltd.
Datastrearn Systems Pte Ltd.
Datastream Systems Pty Ltd.
Computec Sistemas S.A.

Datastream Systems de Mexico S.A. de C.V.

Datastream Servicios Mexicanos, S. de R.L. de C.V.

Datastream Systems do Brasil Ltda.
Datastream Systems de Chile SRL

United States of America
United States of America
U.S. Virgin Islands
The Netherlands

The Netherlands

The United Kingdom
France

The Netherlands
Germany

Germany

Germany

Germany

The Netherlands
Ireland

Singapore

Singapore

China

Japan

Australia

Argentina

Mexico

Mexico

Brazil

Chile
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Independent Auditors’ Consent

The Board of Directors
Datastream Systems, Inc.:

We consent to incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements on Forms S-8 of
Datastream Systems, Inc., of our reports dated February §, 2002, relating to the consolidated balance sheets
of Datastream Systems, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2000 and 2001, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity and comprehensive income (loss), and cash
flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2001, and related schedule, which
reports appear in the December 31, 2001 annual report on Form 10-K of Datastream Systems, Inc:

Form Registration Number Filing Date
S-8 333-00314 © 1/16/1996
S-8 333-00080 1/16/1996
S-8 333-03579 5/13/1996
S-8 333-37655 10/10/1997
S-8 333-50395 4/17/1998
S-8 333-50397 4/17/1998
S-8 333-50399 4/17/1998
S-8 333.57055 6/17/1998
S-8 333-79085 5/21/1999
S-8 333-81663 6/28/1999
S-8 333-43980 8/17/2000
S-8 333-43982 8/17/2000
S-8 333-59320 4/20/2001

/s/ KPMG LLP

Greenville, South Carolina
March 29, 2002

ATLOI/11176118v3




CORPORATE OFFICES
Datastream Systems, Inc.
50 Datastream Plaza
Greenville, SC 29605 USA

ITRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

Please direct address changes or inquiries regarding stock
transfer and lost certificates to:

First Union National Bank of North Carolina

Shareholder Services Group

1525 West W.T. Harris Boulevard, 3C3

Charlotte, North Carolina 28288-1153

(800) 829-8432

CORPORATE COUNSEL
Alston & Bird LLP
Atlanta, Georgia

| ANNUAL MEETING

The annual meeting of shareholders will be held at 2:00 pm
on Friday, June 14, 2002 at the Embassy Suites,

670 Verdae Boulevard, Greenville, South Carolina.

All shareholders are cordially invited to attend.

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS
KPMG LLP, Greenville, South Carolina

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain of the matters discussed in this annual report,
particularly regarding implementation of the Company’s strategy,
constitute “forward looking statements” within the meaning of
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and
Section 21E of the Securities Act of 1934, as amended.
Forward looking statements can be identified by the use of

” i,

forward looking terminology such as “may,
“anticipate,” “estimate,” “believe,” “continue,” or other similar
words. Such statements are based on management’s current

will,” “expect,”

” o« ” o«

plans and expectations and are subject to risks and
uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially
from those described in the forward locking statements.

See “Risk Factors” in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in the

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2001, which is included as part of this

IAnnual Report.

> CORPORATE DATA

"We started locking at asset
management solutions several
years ago. Through the years, we
stayed abreast of who was the best
in the marketplace

and the big players.
Datastream was
always at the top of
“the list and could
address maintenance efficiency,
FAA documentation requirements,
inventory, and configuration.”

JIV: TIPTON
Manager of Simulelor Operaticnal Support
American Airiines

INVESTOR INFORMATION

Additional copies of the Datastream Systems, Inc. Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2001, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission,
will be furnished without charge upon written request to:
Investor Relations Department

50 Datastream Plaza, Greenville, SC 29605 USA.

You may also view Datastream reports, press releases,
product information and other news through the company
Web site located at www.datastream.net.
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50 Datasiream Plaza

Creenviiie, SC 29305
1.884.422.5001 direci
1.800.925.6775 USA and Cenada
1.864.422.5000 {ax
info@deatasiream.net




